Washington University in St. Louis

Washington University Open Scholarship

Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Arts & Sciences

5-31-2024

A Naturalistic Examination of Dietary Lapses in Low-Income, Treatment-Seeking Families with Obesity

Anne Claire Grammer Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds

Recommended Citation

Grammer, Anne Claire, "A Naturalistic Examination of Dietary Lapses in Low-Income, Treatment-Seeking Families with Obesity" (2024). *Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3026. https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds/3026

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Arts & Sciences at Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

Division of Psychological and Brain Sciences

Dissertation Examination Committee:

Denise E. Wilfley, Co-Chair Thomas L. Rodebaugh, Co-Chair Ellen E. Fitzsimmons-Craft Joshua J. Jackson Desirée A. White

A Naturalistic Examination of Dietary Lapses in Low-Income, Treatment-Seeking Families with Obesity by Anne Claire Grammer, M.A.

> A dissertation presented to Washington University in St. Louis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> > August 2024 St. Louis, Missouri

© 2024, Anne Claire Grammer

Table of Contents

List of Figures	iv
List of Tables	. v
Acknowledgements	vi
Abstract of the Dissertationv	iii
Chapter 1: Introduction	. 1
1.1 Prevalence and Correlates of Childhood Obesity	. 1
1.2 Socioeconomic Status and Childhood Obesity	. 1
1.3 Socioeconomic Disparities in Response to Family-Based Behavioral Obesity Treatment.	. 2
1.4 Dietary Adherence: A Primary FBT Target	. 3
1.5 Goal-Conflict Theory of Self-Regulation	. 4
1.6 Definitions of Dietary Lapses	. 5
1.7 Predictors of Dietary Lapses and Relation to Weight Change in Adults	. 5
 1.9 Elevated Risk for Dietary Lapses among Families from Low-Income Households 1.9.1 Intrapersonal Factors	. 8 . 8 . 9
1.10 Ecological Momentary Assessment to Assess Dietary Lapses	10
 1.11 Specific Aims. 1.11.1 Specific Aim 1 1.11.2 Specific Aim 2 1.11.3 Specific Aim 3 (Exploratory). 	12 12 12 12
Chapter 2: Method	13
2.1 Participants and Recruitment	13
2.2 Procedure 2.2.1 EMA Protocol	13 14
2.3 Feasibility	15
 2.4 Measures	15 15 15 16 16
 2.5 Statistical Analyses	20 21 21
Chapter 3: Results	22 23

3.1 Participant Characteristics	23
3.2 EMA Adherence	25
3.3 Specific Aim 1: Change in Frequency of Parent and Child Dietary Lapses	25
3.4 Specific Aim 1: Parent Dietary Lapse Cues3.4.1 Intrapersonal Cues	28 29 32
3.5 Specific Aim 2: Parent-Child Dietary Lapses and Parent-Child Weight Change	33
3.6 Specific Aim 3: Parent Dietary Lapse Intensity and Child Dietary Lapse Occurrence	36
Chapter 4: Discussion	36
4.1 Parent and Child Dietary Lapse Frequency	36
4.2 Change in Parent and Child Dietary Lapse	37
4.3 Predictors of Parent Dietary Lapses4.3.1 Intrapersonal Cues4.3.2 Socioenvironmental Cues	38 38 40
4.4 Moderating Role of Parent Dietary Lapses in Relation to Parent-Child Weight Change	42
4.5 Association of Parent Dietary Lapse Intensity and Occurrence of Child Dietary Lapse.	43
4.6 Strengths and Limitations	44
4.7 Conclusion	44
References	46
Appendices	69

List of Figures

Figure 1. Within-Person Variability in Parent and Child Dietary Lapses	26
Figure 2. Change in Predicted Probability of Parent Dietary Lapses	27
Figure 3. Change in Predicted Probability of Child Dietary Lapses	27
Figure 4. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Within-Person Perceived Stress	30
Figure 5. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Between-Person Hunger	31
Figure 6. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Between-Person Craving	32
Figure 7. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Within-Person Presence of	
Unhealthy Foods	33
Figure 8. Parent Weight Change over 3-Month FBT as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses	35
Figure 9. Child Weight Change over 3-Month FBT as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses	35

List of Tables

Table 1. Overview of EMA Survey Questions and Response Items	17
Table 2. Parent-Child Dietary Lapses and Weight at Each Major EMA Study Period	24
Table 3. Parent Dietary Lapse Characteristics at Each Major Study Period	24
Table 4. Child Dietary Lapse Characteristics at Each Major Study Period	25
Table 5. Parent Dietary Lapse Cues at the Sample Level	28
Table 6. Between-Person and Within-Person Effects of Dietary Lapse Cues	29
Table 7. Mixed Effects Models Examining Weight Change as a Function of Dietary Lapses	. 34

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my dissertation co-chair and graduate advisor, Dr. Denise Wilfley, for providing invaluable training opportunities throughout my graduate career and for advocating on my behalf. I would also like to acknowledge my other dissertation cochair, Dr. Thomas Rodebaugh, for the many roles he has played throughout my training, including clinical supervisor, course instructor, and masters committee member. I would also like to express my gratitude to my other committee members who have provided their expertise and wisdom throughout the process: Drs. Joshua Jackson, Desirée White, and Ellen Fitzsimmons-Craft. I have also benefited from the support of a wonderful team of collaborators on the F31 grant: Drs. Ross Crosby, Scott Engel, Andrea Goldschmidt, Bonnie Spring, and Jerica Berge. I am fortunate to have received your guidance throughout the entirety of this process - from a vague idea to keep me occupied during the COVID-19 lockdown to a completed dissertation.

I am deeply thankful for the unwavering support of so many people. Most importantly, to my parents - thank you for giving me the most precious gift of all, an education. This is for you. To my sister, to my partner, and to my non-PhD friends, thank you for pretending to understand what I am talking about and showing genuine enthusiasm. To my Center for Healthy Weight and Wellness labmates, thank you for always understanding. To my life-long cohort friends, Genevieve Davison, Noura Elsayed, and Rita Taylor, thank you for keeping me going. We are one resilient bunch.

I also stand on the shoulders of many giants who must be mentioned. To Dr. Leslie Rescorla, thank you for instilling a passion for psychology and child development. May your memory be a blessing. To Dr. Katherine Dahlsgaard, thank you for continuing that memory. To Drs. Tom Wadden, Jack Yanovski, and Marian Tanofsky-Kraff, thank you for modeling how to be a rigorous scientist and devoted mentor. To my study team and to the teams at Children's Mercy

vi

Hospital, Children's Mercy Research Institute Community Advisory Board, and Freeman Health System, this project would not be possible without your collaboration and effort. Finally, to the families who participated in this project, thank you for offering your time and sharing a sliver of your lives with me. The scientific community has greatly benefited from your generosity.

This dissertation project was made possible through generous funding from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (F31HL158000), The Academy for Eating Disorders RSH Scholarship, The American Psychological Association Dissertation Research Award, The Association for Psychological Science Student Grant Competition, and the Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences Dissertation Research Award. The abundance of financial support has made it possible to conduct this project with respect and integrity for participants from low-income households.

Anne Claire Grammer

Washington University in St. Louis 2024

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

A Naturalistic Examination of Dietary Lapses in Low-Income, Treatment-Seeking Families with Obesity

by

Anne Claire Grammer, M.A.

Doctor of Philosophy in Psychological and Brain Sciences

Washington University in St. Louis, 2024

Professors Denise Wilfley and Thomas Rodebaugh, Co-Chairs

Socioeconomic disparities in childhood obesity prevalence and treatment response are welldocumented and may be partially explained by moments of non-adherence to dietary intentions

(i.e., dietary lapses). The current study employed a naturalistic design to characterize the frequency and momentary context of parent dietary lapses and explore their effects on child dietary lapses and parent-child weight change among low-income families participating in 3-month family-based behavioral obesity treatment (FBT). 19 parent-child dyads completed 3 separate 1-week periods of ecological momentary assessment to examine socioenvironmental and intrapersonal cues of parent dietary lapses as well as the frequency of parent-child dietary lapses throughout 3-month FBT. Parent and child height and weight were objectively measured

at baseline, month 2, and month 3 of FBT. Both parent and child dietary lapses decreased throughout FBT. Within-person parent stress and unhealthy food presence as well as betweenperson parent hunger and craving predicted a parent dietary lapse. Contrary to study hypotheses, parents who reported more frequent dietary lapses demonstrated greater weight change during FBT, as did their children. Parent lapse severity was not associated with a child lapse. Findings highlight socioenvironmental and intrapersonal targets to support family eating self-regulation, as well as opportunities to optimize FBT for families from low-income households who are at

risk for worsened treatment response.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Prevalence and Correlates of Childhood Obesity

Over the past four decades, the number of youth in the United States with obesity has more than tripled (Fryar et al., 2018). Recent epidemiological data indicate that 19.7% of youth aged 2-19 have obesity (Stierman et al., 2021). Childhood obesity is associated with poor physical health outcomes, including increased risk for cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, sleep apnea, and asthma (Freedman et al., 2007; Reilly & Kelly, 2011). Youth with obesity also experience poor psychosocial outcomes, including elevated symptoms of depression (Quek et al., 2017), disordered eating (Hayes et al., 2018), poor quality of life (Buttitta et al., 2014), and weight-related victimization (Puhl & Lessard, 2020). Excess weight in childhood tends to track into adolescence and adulthood (Simmonds et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2008; Whitaker et al., 1997), which may exacerbate the severity and/or chronicity of weight-related comorbidities. Given the numerous health and psychosocial consequences associated with childhood obesity, it is crucial to identify high-risk subgroups of youth who may benefit from targeted interventions.

1.2 Socioeconomic Status and Childhood Obesity

Youth from low-income households are one such subgroup (Cunningham et al., 2014). Low socioeconomic status, broadly defined as lower household family income, parental occupation, and/or parental education (Shavers, 2007), is associated with excess weight and fat mass among youth (Bridger Staatz et al., 2021). National survey data indicate that 19.9% of youth from the lowest income bracket (≤130% of federal poverty line) have obesity compared to 10.9% of youth from the highest income bracket (>350% of federal poverty line) (Ogden, 2018). Further, the prevalence of childhood obesity significantly decreases overtime with increasing family income (Stierman et al., 2021) and parental education (Ogden, 2018).

Socioeconomic status may also have a greater effect on childhood obesity above and beyond other related demographic variables linked to elevated childhood obesity risk, such as minoritized racial and ethnic identity (Anderson et al., 2022; Rogers et al., 2015; Rossen, 2014). One cross-sectional study found that the association between race/ethnicity and odds of childhood obesity was not significant after adjusting for family income (Rogers et al., 2015). Another cross-sectional study found that racial and ethnic disparities in childhood obesity were attenuated after accounting for socioeconomic status, neighborhood deprivation, and their interactions (Anderson et al., 2022). Given the disproportionate rates of obesity among youth from low-income households, examining whether socioeconomic status impacts response to childhood obesity treatment is necessary to optimize treatment outcomes for low-income youth.

1.3 Socioeconomic Disparities in Response to Family-Based Behavioral Obesity Treatment

Family-based behavioral obesity treatment (FBT) is a multi-component intervention that facilitates parent-child weight change by addressing dietary intake, physical activity, and parenting skills (Coppock et al., 2014). FBT is considered a first line treatment for childhood obesity due to its long-term effects on parent and child weight change (Wilfley et al., 2007, 2017). FBT teaches parents how to modify the home food environment to support healthy choices using techniques such as stimulus control, monitoring, creating mealtime routines, and modeling positive health behavior changes. Parents are also taught how to problem solve treatment barriers, including preplanning and helping their child generalize new health behaviors to settings outside of the home. Last, parents are encouraged to praise child approximations to health behavior change, have frequent family meals, and meet regularly with their child. Studies have shown that several of the core components of FBT such as improvements in parent monitoring, increased access to nutrient-dense foods, and reduced access to energy-dense foods

in the home food environment are associated with greater child weight change following FBT (Boutelle et al., 2021).

Nevertheless, compared to families from high-income households, some data suggest that families from low-income households demonstrate suboptimal short-term weight change following FBT (Davison et al., 2021; Ligthart et al., 2017). One longitudinal study found that lower family income was associated with less weight change following 4-month FBT, although differences in weight change by family income were not sustained following 8-month maintenance (Davison et al., 2021). Results from a systematic review of 26 studies showed that low family income was associated with higher drop-out from pediatric behavioral weight management interventions and worse adherence to treatment targets (Ligthart et al., 2017). Relatedly, studies suggest that families from low-income households experience unique barriers to health behavior change (D. J. T. Campbell et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2010), which may impact adherence to treatment targets and subsequently increase risk for suboptimal treatment response.

1.4 Dietary Adherence: A Primary FBT Target

In the context of FBT, adherence to change in dietary intake (i.e., dietary adherence) is a primary focus of treatment given that dietary change is a key driver of long-term weight loss (Epstein, 1993; Wrotniak et al., 2005). Dietary adherence is defined as planning to minimize consumption of "red" foods/day (i.e., energy-dense foods) and planning to increase consumption of "green" foods/day (i.e., nutrient-dense foods) (Valoski & Epstein, 1990). FBT facilitates dietary adherence at the parent and the child level given the role of parents in modeling healthy eating habits and structuring the home food environment (Faith et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2020). Data also show that families demonstrate similar dietary changes throughout FBT (Best et al.,

2016), highlighting the relevance of targeting dietary adherence within parent-child dyads. Results from FBT studies indicate that parent and child adherence to specific treatment targets predicts short- and long-term weight change (Saelens & McGrath, 2003; Steele et al., 2009; Theim et al., 2013). Further, parent adherence *alone* is predictive of child weight change (Boutelle et al., 2021; Steele et al., 2009), which may be due, in part, to maximizing opportunities for children to adhere to specific treatment targets. Delivery of FBT to parents only has also been shown to be equally effective as standard FBT in improving parent and child weight and dietary intake (Boutelle et al., 2017). Thus, parent dietary adherence may represent an important pathway to improve child dietary adherence and promote weight change.

1.5 Goal-Conflict Theory of Self-Regulation

Despite the scaffolding in place for families to adhere to dietary recommendations during FBT, incidental breaks in dietary adherence (i.e., dietary lapses) are common and occur between 3 to 12 times per week in treatment-seeking adults with obesity (Carels et al., 2001, 2004; Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018). According to goal-conflict theory of self-regulation, dietary adherence is governed by two incompatible goals: the desire to eat energy-dense foods and the desire to lose weight (Stroebe et al., 2008, 2013). In effect, dietary lapses occur due to momentary failure to inhibit responsiveness to an abundance of socioenvironmental cues and intrapersonal cues that undermine eating self-regulation (Stroebe et al., 2008). In support of this theory are findings from laboratory studies that show that adult dieters exposed to diet-congruent food cues (e.g., fruits, vegetables) consume less energy from a snack than when exposed to diet-incongruent food cues (e.g., sweets) (Buckland et al., 2013) and control cues (e.g., household object) (Buckland et al., 2014). Thus, the preponderance of diet-incongruent foods cues in the food-rich environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary set and the set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially challenging to adhere to dietary food set of the environment may make it especially

recommendations. Overtime, repeated exposure to socioenvironmental and intrapersonal cues may lead to a cascade of dietary lapses (i.e., relapse), causing a return to unhealthy eating behaviors and abandonment of weight loss goals entirely (Marlatt, 1985).

1.6 Definitions of Dietary Lapses

Dietary lapses have been inconsistently defined. Drawing from seminal work in the addiction literature (Shiffman, 1982, 1984), Grilo and colleagues (Grilo et al., 1989) were the first to propose an empirically-derived classification of dietary lapses. In this study, participants were asked to describe a discrete eating event during which they experienced a lapse. Two themes emerged: lapses were described as either a time when participants ate more calories than intended or when they ate a food they did not intend to eat (i.e., "a forbidden food"). More recent studies have defined dietary lapses as "an incident where you felt you broke your diet" (Carels et al., 2001), "an incident where you ate a larger portion than intended", "ate at an unplanned time", and/or "ate a food you intended to avoid" (Forman et al., 2017). In a follow-up study examining the various dietary lapse types described by Foreman and colleagues (Forman et al., 2017), Goldstein and colleagues (Goldstein, Dochat, et al., 2018) found that lapse types were distinct in terms of their antecedents, timing, and location Further, eating during unplanned times and eating more than planned were associated with lesser weekly weight change (Goldstein, Thomas, et al., 2021) and ultimate weight change (Goldstein, Dochat, et al., 2018), suggesting that dietary lapses characterized by eating outside of pre-planned times as well as the size of the lapse may be especially important to target during treatment.

1.7 Predictors of Dietary Lapses and Relation to Weight Change in Adults

Consistent with goal-conflict theory of self-regulation, studies in adult samples with obesity show that external factors such as the presence and availability of energy-dense foods in

the immediate environment are associated with the occurrence of a dietary lapse (Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018; McKee et al., 2014; Thomas et al., 2011). Intrapersonal cues, including affective cues (i.e., negative mood) and physiological cues (i.e., stress, hunger, and craving) have also been prospectively associated with the occurrence of a dietary lapse among adults (Carels et al., 2001, 2004; Crochiere et al., 2022; Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein, Dochat, et al., 2018; Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018; McKee et al., 2014). The array of potential triggers for dietary lapses suggests that dietary lapses are highly context specific and vary within individuals (Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018). Indeed, state-like contextual factors (e.g., state stress, state negative affect) have been shown to explain the most variance in weekly weight loss among treatment-seeking adults with obesity (Thomas et al., 2022).

Although dietary adherence is a primary target of weight management interventions, findings in adult samples are mixed regarding whether dietary lapses are associated with suboptimal weight change following treatment; while some studies support a negative association between dietary lapses and weight change (Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein, Dochat, et al., 2018; Goldstein, Thomas, et al., 2021), others do not (Goldstein, Brick, et al., 2021). Mixed findings may reflect study differences in *when* dietary lapses occur during treatment. Studies in adults and youth indicate that early weight change in the first 1-2 months of treatment predicts long-term treatment response (Goldschmidt et al., 2011; Nackers et al., 2010; Tronieri et al., 2018). Thus, dietary lapses that occur during the first few months of treatment may impede ultimate weight loss. Indeed, once study found that more frequent dietary lapses at baseline were associated with lesser early 4-week weight change and lesser overall 12-month weight change (Forman et al., 2017).

1.8 Predictors of Dietary Lapses and Relation to Weight Change in Youth

No studies have examined predictors of dietary lapses in pediatric samples. However, substantial evidence suggests that the parent feeding environment provides an important social context for shaping a child's ability to self-regulate energy intake (Grammer et al., 2022; Savage et al., 2007). In particular, the transition from early childhood (ages 1-5) to middle childhood (ages 6-10) is a crucial period for influencing healthy eating self-regulation, as children begin to gain autonomy and competence in determining what, how much, and whether they decide to eat, while still relying on parents to provide support and structure over the home food environment (Balantekin et al., 2020). Positive food parenting practices such as increasing access to nutrientdense foods and reducing access to energy-dense foods in the home, parent modeling of nutrientdense food intake, and monitoring are correlated with child intake of nutrient-dense foods (Ong et al., 2017; Yee et al., 2017) as well as the rate of child weight change following FBT (Boutelle et al., 2021). Further, the concordance between parent and child diet quality is stronger in younger children (<10 years) than older children (>10 years) (Wang et al., 2011), suggesting that younger children may be especially reliant on parent involvement to make healthy choices. Given the role of parents in shaping child eating self-regulation and the resemblance between parent and child dietary intake, it is plausible that failed attempts by the parent to self-regulate their own eating behavior in response to intrapersonal and socioenvironmental cues could trigger a dietary lapse in the parent and subsequently in the child.

Although no studies have examined dietary lapses in relation to weight change in youth, dietary adherence and weight change are strongly correlated within parent-child dyads. One study found that shared dietary changes within parent-child dyads partially explained correlated weight loss maintenance following FBT (Best et al., 2016). Further, parent weight change is a robust predictor of child weight change following FBT (Boutelle et al., 2012), and child weight

change predicts parent weight change following FBT and maintenance (Fowler et al., 2021). Given the interdependence between parent-child dietary adherence and weight change, it follows that the risk dietary lapses may pose to treatment response at the parent level may also occur at the child level.

1.9 Elevated Risk for Dietary Lapses among Families from Low-Income Households

1.9.1 Intrapersonal Factors

Families from low-income households may be at elevated risk for dietary lapses due to the salience of intrapersonal and socioenvironmental cues in their natural environment that thwart attempts to self-regulate eating behavior. Intrapersonal factors such as stress (American Psychological Association, 2017) and negative affect (Lorant et al., 2003; Weinberger et al., 2018) disproportionately impact individuals with limited financial resources. Parents from lowincome households report frequent daily stressors and cumulative stressful life events stemming from financial hardship, limited opportunities for socioeconomic advancement, and discrimination (Dunkel Schetter et al., 2013). Socioeconomic disadvantage has also been associated with higher incidence of major depressive disorder (Kessler et al., 2012; Pabayo et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2018) and more severe depressive symptoms (Ettman et al., 2020). Povertyrelated stressors are also putative risk factors for the onset and maintenance of depression (Santiago et al., 2011), indicating that stress and depressive symptoms may co-occur in parents from low-income households.

Within the context of the feeding environment, longitudinal observational data indicate that parents from low-income households demonstrate inconsistent feeding practices across mealtimes, suggesting that they may be susceptible to situational factors that undermine selfregulatory processes involved in child feeding (Silva Garcia et al., 2018). Indeed, situational

factors including high levels of parent stress and negative mood have been shown to predict same-day pressure-to-eat feeding practices and the availability of energy-dense foods at mealtimes (Berge, Tate, et al., 2017). The type of stressor has also been shown to predict sameday unhealthy parent feeding practices. Parent-reported interpersonal conflict and financial stress were associated with same-day unhealthy feeding practices, including serving more fast food and pre-prepared foods at meals, respectively (Berge, Tate, Trofholz, Fertig, et al., 2018). Moments of unhealthy parent feeding practices could represent high-risk periods for parent dietary lapses and could contribute to parent and child weight gain over time. Further, the lack of available resources to manage stress and negative mood could also contribute to poor parental perceived self-efficacy to adhere to FBT dietary targets and impact parent and child treatment response. Indeed, higher parental self-efficacy has been associated with better child response to FBT among families across the socioeconomic strata (Goldschmidt et al., 2014). However, few studies have examined whether or how socioenvironmental and intrapersonal cues affect dietary adherence and overall weight change on a momentary level.

1.9.2 Socioenvironmental Factors

Families from low-income households are more likely to live in under-resourced neighborhoods, where there is a high concentration of establishments that sell energy-dense foods (i.e., food swamps) and a low concentration of establishments that sell affordable and available nutrient-dense foods (i.e., food deserts) (Gordon-Larsen, 2014; Larson et al., 2009). The presence and availability of energy-dense foods and prohibitive cost of nutrient-dense foods in the food-rich environment have been associated with poor diet quality and increased energy intake in youth and adults (Darmon & Drewnowski, 2015; Hager et al., 2017; Raffensperger et al., 2010). In turn, greater access to low-cost, energy-dense foods in under-resourced

neighborhoods may negatively impact dietary adherence and lead to suboptimal FBT response. Among families participating in FBT, living farther away from convenience stores and supermarkets that sold energy-dense foods was associated with greater child weight change at two-year follow-up (Epstein et al., 2012).

Families from low-income households may also experience periods of food insecurity, defined as limited or unreliable access to affordable and nutritious food (Anderson, 1990). Studies in adults and youth have shown an adverse effect of food insecurity on diet quality (Hanson & Connor, 2014; Landry et al., 2019), likely due to the need to rely on low-cost, energy-dense foods in times of scarcity. As a result, families who experience food insecurity may have difficulties adhering to FBT-specific dietary recommendations due to the lack the financial resources to alter the home food environment. Indeed, findings from an FBT study in adolescents found that food-secure households, but not food-insecure households, reported improvements in the home food environment and dietary quality following 4-month FBT (Adams et al., 2022).

Food insecurity may also augment parent feeding practices at mealtimes. Parents from food-insecure households have been shown to engage in restrictive feeding practices (i.e., controlling what or how much a child eats), which may reflect a need to disperse food across a stretch of time or divide food between the parent and child (Bauer et al., 2015; Berge et al., 2020). Consistent with data that have documented a link between food insecurity and binge eating (Hazzard et al., 2020; Stinson et al., 2018), restrictive feeding practices within the context of food insecurity may trigger a dietary lapse once families encounter relative food abundance.

1.10 Ecological Momentary Assessment to Assess Dietary Lapses

Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) may improve current understanding of the momentary processes that lead to dietary lapses in families from low-income households. EMA

is an ecologically valid assessment tool that collects repeated measures of real-time behavioral data in the natural environment (Shiffman et al., 2008). Multiple assessments are administered typically via smartphone over the entirety of a day to capture fluctuations in discrete events (e.g., dietary lapses) and to characterize antecedents, correlates, and consequences associated with the event. Extant methods for measuring dietary adherence have employed retrospective self-report following obesity treatment (Shim et al., 2014; Theim et al., 2013), which limits understanding of momentary predictors of dietary lapses in a real-world setting. Given that dietary lapses are highly context specific (Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018), EMA may better capture and characterize the real-time sequalae leading to a dietary lapse via repeated-measure assessments. Further, examining person-specific cues for dietary lapses within families may better elucidate the high degree of variability in obesity treatment response (Thomas et al., 2022) and aid in the development of targeted treatment approaches.

Despite its promising utility, few EMA studies have characterized dietary lapses in obesity-treatment-seeking adults or examined their association with weight change (Carels et al., 2001, 2004; Crochiere et al., 2022; Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein, Brick, et al., 2021; Goldstein, Dochat, et al., 2018; Goldstein et al., 2022; Goldstein, Thomas, et al., 2021; Goldstein, Zhang, et al., 2018). Further, no studies have examined dietary lapses in the context of the family, yet alone in families from low-income households who are particularly vulnerable to dietary nonadherence. Contextualizing determinants of parent dietary lapses and examining their effects on child dietary lapses and parent-child weight change in the context of FBT could inform targeted approaches to support family eating self-regulation in groups at risk for suboptimal treatment response. To address these critical gaps, this study employed EMA methods to achieve the following aims:

1.11 Specific Aims

1.11.1 Specific Aim 1

Characterize the frequency, nature, and momentary context of parent dietary lapses. Consistent with self-regulation theories, I hypothesize that parent dietary lapses and child dietary lapses will decrease over the course of three-month FBT (<u>Hypothesis 1a</u>); parent-reported intrapersonal and socioenvironmental cues will predict the occurrence of a parent dietary lapse (<u>Hypothesis 1b</u>).

1.11.2 Specific Aim 2

Examine the effect of parent dietary lapses on parent-child weight change. First, I hypothesize that parent-child dyads will demonstrate significant reductions in weight between each major timepoint (Hypothesis 2a). I also hypothesize that the magnitude of parent and child weight change will be moderated by the frequency of parent dietary lapses. Specifically, parents who report more frequent dietary lapses will demonstrate less weight change across FBT compared to parents who report less frequent dietary lapses (<u>Hypothesis 2b</u>); children of parents with more frequent dietary lapses will also demonstrate less weight change across 3-month FBT compared to children of parents with less frequent dietary lapses (<u>Hypothesis 2c</u>).

1.11.3 Specific Aim 3 (Exploratory)

Explore the association between parent dietary lapse severity and the occurrence of a child dietary lapse. Finally, I hypothesize that parent dietary lapse severity will be positively associated with parent-report of a child dietary lapse at the concomitant timepoint (<u>Hypothesis</u> <u>3a; exploratory</u>).

Chapter 2: Method

2.1 Participants and Recruitment

Parent-child dyads (N = 19) were recruited between May 2022 to November 2022 from an ongoing FBT trial ("parent trial") (Wilfley et al., 2021) conducted at participating pediatric primary care clinics at Children's Mercy Hospital in Kansas City, Missouri and Freeman Health System in Joplin, Missouri. Participants who were already participating in the parent trial were contacted via phone/email to assess study interest and were screened for eligibility. Children were considered eligible if they were 5-12 years old at baseline, comfortable speaking English, able to provide verbal informed assent, recipients of Missouri Medicaid, willing to change diet, physical activity, and weight, had a BMI $\geq 95^{\text{th}}$ percentile for their age and sex. Parents were considered eligible if they were participating in the parent trial with the participating child, had a mobile device with text messaging capabilities, and consented to receive text messages. Participants were excluded if they did not have reliable access to a mobile device with texting capabilities or did not consent to the texting protocol. At the time of recruitment, a total of 46 parent-child dyads from the parent trial were contacted of whom 1 did not meet eligibility criteria due to lack of reliable cell phone, 6 withdrew from the parent study, and 20 were not interested. The study protocol was approved by Washington University Institutional Review Board in August 2021. Recruitment materials are presented in Appendix A.

2.2 Procedure

An overview of the procedure is presented in Appendix B. Participants engaged in an initial 1-hour virtual baseline session consisting of consent/assent, and training in the EMA protocol (visit 1). During visit 1, the study team member and the participant completed an EMA practice survey together to ensure the participant understood the survey questions (Appendix C).

The day after the baseline session, participants completed a 1-day practice period (day 1 of EMA) during which they practiced answering three surveys at random times once in the morning, afternoon, and evening. Following the practice period, participants were contacted by a study team member to answer questions and address any technical challenges (visit 2). Participants were given another opportunity to practice if adherence was poor (i.e., < 2 out of 3 surveys completed). Following visit 2, participants continued to receive the surveys for one week (including the practice day) and then again for one week at month 2 and month 3. Participants received a mid-week text to bolster adherence and provide information on their progress. Participants were also contacted the day before month 2 and month 3 to remind them of the study protocol.

2.2.1 EMA Protocol

To complete the surveys, participating parents received a link via text message that uploaded to the EMA web-based program, ReTAINE (Sanford Health, 2023). At each 1-week survey period (i.e., month 1 [baseline], month 2, month 3), participating parents reported on their own dietary lapses at 3 random intervals throughout the day. Each survey contained questions on momentary intrapersonal cues (i.e., negative mood, stress, hunger, craving), socioenvironmental cues (i.e., presence of unhealthy foods, lack of access to healthy foods, affordability of health foods), and questions on the location of the lapse, type of eating episode (i.e., meal or snack), level of fullness, and lapse severity. Participating parents were also asked to report on any child dietary lapses by proxy. Parents were chosen as informants given data that show moderate agreement between parent-reported child dietary intake via EMA and objectively 24-hour child dietary recall (Loth et al., 2021). Surveys remained active for 1 hour before they expire to account for times in which participating parents were unable to respond. Participating parents

were compensated \$1 per survey responded to for a maximum of \$63 over the course of the 3 study periods. To incentivize excellent adherence, parents who completed \geq 66.7% of the surveys (14 out of 21 surveys/week) at any given study period were entered once into a \$100 drawing. Probability of winning the lottery increased based on the frequency of which participants completed \geq 66.7% of the surveys. At the end of the study, participants received a \$25 grocery store gift card and personalized feedback based on their survey responses.

2.3 Feasibility

Prior to study initiation, the EMA protocol was presented to members of the community participatory research coalition at Children's Mercy Hospital to receive feedback on study feasibility for families from low-income households. The following changes were implemented in line with member feedback: the number of EMA surveys was reduced from 5 to 3 per day; compensation was increased from 50 cents to 1 dollar per survey; a gift card to a local grocery store was added as an additional incentive; survey length was reduced from 4 minutes to 1 minute per survey; survey language was made appropriate for 6th grade literacy level; the 100% practice day adherence target was eliminated to prevent dropout prior to study initiation; a mid-week text was added to check in with participants and share their progress; participants and their FBT coach received a summary of their completed survey responses and personalized feedback at the end of the study.

2.4 Measures

2.4.1 Demographics

Participant race, ethnicity, age, sex, education level, and food insecurity status were collected at baseline.

2.4.2 Food Insecurity

Parent-reported food insecurity in the past 12 months was assessed using the 6-item U.S. Household Food Security Survey Module, an abbreviated version of the original 18-item measure (Blumberg et al., 1999). The 6-item measure has excellent sensitivity (97.7%) (Blumberg et al., 1999) and has been used in prior research assessing relations between food insecurity and eating behavior in low-income families (Berge, Trofholz, et al., 2017). Affirmative responses (i.e., answering "yes", "sometimes", "often", "almost every month", and "some months but not every month") are summed to form a total score. A total score of 0-1 indicates high food security status, a score of 2-4 indicates low food security status, and a score of 5-6 indicates very low food security status.

2.4.3 Body Composition

Trained research staff collected baseline in-person average height (cm) and body weight (kg) measurements taken in triplicate by calibrated stadiometer and scale, respectively. Body weight measurements at month 2 and month 3 were collected via portable scale provided to participants for at-home measurement and were monitored over video call with research staff to ensure accuracy. Parent BMI [kg/m²] and child percent overweight [percentage above the median BMI for age and sex based on CDC 2000 growth charts (Kuczmarski et al., 2002)] at baseline, month 2, and month 3 were calculated accordingly. Child percent overweight was selected as opposed to other body weight metrics due to its superior sensitivity to weight change at the higher end of the weight spectrum (Paluch et al., 2007).

2.4.4 EMA Measures

Table 1 provides an overview of survey questions and response items.

Construct	Survey Item	Response Options
Parent Negative Affect	Please rate how you feel	Response:
	RIGHT NOW.	0 = Not at all
	• Upset	1 = A little
	 Hostile 	2 = Quite a bit
	• Ashamed	3 = Extremely
	o Nervous	
	o Afraid	
Parent Perceived Stress	• How confident do you feel in	• Response:
	your ability to handle all of the	0 = Not at all
	demands on you RIGHT	1 = A little
	NOW?	2 = Quite a bit
	• How much do you feel like	3 = Extremely
	difficulties are piling up so	
	high that you cannot overcome them RIGHT NOW?	
Parent Hunger and Craving	• How hungry are you RIGHT	• Response:
	NOW?	0 = Not at all
	• How strongly are you craving	1 = A little
	certain foods RIGHT NOW?	2 = Quite a bit
		3 = Extremely
Food Environment	• Since the last text, have you	• Response:
	been around unhealthy foods?	0 = No
	• Since the last text, have you	1 = Yes
	had access to healthy foods?	
	• Since the last text, have you	
	had enough money to buy	
	healthy foods?	
Dietary Targets	• How many red foods do you	• Response:
	and your child plan to eat	Parent red foods $= 0-20$
	today?	Child red foods $= 0-20$
Parent Dietary Lapses	• Since the last text, have you	• Response: Had anything to
(Presence/Absence)	had anything to eat?	eat
	• Think back to the most recent	0 = No
	time you ate since the last text:	1 = Yes; if "Yes", follow
	• Was it a meal or a snack?	the next questions
	• During this meal or snack,	• Response: Meal or snack
	did you eat more red foods	1 = Meal
	than planned?	2 = Snack
		Response: Dietary lapses
		0 = No
		1 = Yes: If "Yes" to one or
		more dietary lapse, follow
		the next questions

 Table 1. Overview of EMA Survey Questions and Response Items

Parent Dietary Lapses	• Where were you eating?	Response: Location
(Context)	• How full did you feel after	1 = Home
	eating?	2 = Work
	• How much of the red food did	3 = Restaurant
	you eat?	4 = Fast-food chain
		5 = Social event
		6 = Other
		Response: Fullness
		0 = Not at all
		1 = A little
		2 = Quite a bit
		3 = Extremely
		Response: Red portion
		0 = Not at all more
		1 = A little more
		2 = Quite a bit more
		3 = A lot more
Child Dietary Lapses	• Since the last text, do you	Response: Dietary lapses
(Presence/Absence)	know if your child ate more	0 = No
	red foods than they planned?	1 = Yes: If "Yes" to one or
	• Were you eating with your	more dietary lapse, follow
	child?	the next questions
		• Response: Eating with Child
		0 = No
	***	l = Yes
Child Dietary Lapses	• Was your child eating a meal	• Response: Meal or snack
(Context)	Or snack?	l = Meal
	• Where was your child eating?	2 = Snack
	• How much of the red food did	• Response: Location
	your child eat?	l = Home
		2 = School
		3 = Restaurant
		4 = Fast-food chain
		5 = Social event
		o = Other
		• Response: Red portion
		0 = Not at all more
		I = A little more
		2 = Quite a bit more
		3 = A lot more

2.4.4.1 Parent Negative Affect. Separate parent negative affective states were assessed using the five negative affect items from the International Positive and Negative Affect Schedule Short Form (I-PANAS-SF), an abbreviated version of the original 20-item PANAS (Thompson,

2007). Participating parents were asked to report the extent to which they feel upset, hostile, ashamed, nervous, or afraid at that moment. Response items range from 0 (*Not at all*) to 3 (*Extremely*). The I-PANAS-SF demonstrates excellent convergent and criterion validity compared to the original PANAS (Thompson, 2007).

2.4.4.2 Parent Stress. Parent perceived stress levels was assessed using two items adapted from the four-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4) (Cohen et al., 1983). Participating parents were asked to report their current perceived confidence in handling demands (*How confident do you feel in your ability to handle all of the demands on you right now?*) and ability to control important things in their life (*How much do you feel like difficulties are piling up so high that you cannot overcome them right now?*). Response items range from 0 (*Not at all*) to 3 (*Extremely*). Response items for perceived confidence in handling demands were reverse scored, such that a 0 indicated feeling *extremely* confident in handling demands, and a 3 indicated feeling *not at all* confident. The PSS-4 has acceptable validity and reliability (Cohen et al., 1983) and has been used in prior EMA research examining stress and eating behavior in parent-child dyads (Dunton et al., 2015).

2.4.4.3 Parent Hunger, Craving, and Fullness. Participating parents were asked to rate their momentary hunger (*How hungry are you right now?*) and craving (*How strongly are you craving certain foods right now?*) on a scale from 0 (*Not at all*) to 3 (*Extremely*). These items have been used in a prior EMA study that examined dietary lapses in treatment-seeking adults with obesity (Forman et al., 2017).

2.4.4.4 Food Environment. Participating parents were asked to report on the presence of unhealthy foods in their environment (*Since the last text, have you been around unhealthy foods?*), the availability of healthy foods in their environment (*Since the last text, have you had*

access to healthy foods?), and healthy food affordability (*Since the last text, have you had enough money to buy healthy foods?*) on a scale from 0 (*No*) to 1 (*Yes*). These items are consistent with those included in a prior EMA protocol examining eating behavior in low-income families (Berge, Trofholz, et al., 2017).

2.4.4.5 Parent and Child Dietary Lapses. Dietary lapses during eating events were defined in accordance with the Traffic-Light Eating Plan (Valoski & Epstein, 1990), an approach to dietary modification used in FBT to help families limit high energy-dense foods (i.e., red foods) and increase nutrient-dense foods (i.e., green foods). The current study specifically focused on assessing red food dietary lapses given data that show that reducing energy-dense foods during FBT is associated with sustained improvements in diet and child weight at 2-year follow-up (Epstein et al., 2008). Further, EMA data in adults show that lapses characterized by eating outside of planned meals/snacks are associated with less early weight change, suggesting this type of lapse may be especially important to target during treatment (Goldstein, Thomas, et al., 2021). To contextualize dietary lapses, participating parents were asked to report how many red foods they and their child plan to eat that day. They were then asked to think back to the most recent eating event since the last survey and report whether they or their child ate more red foods than planned (During this meal or snack, did you/your child eat more red foods than *planned?*) on a scale from 0 (*No*) to 1 (*Yes*). If a participating parent had not eaten since the last survey, this observation was coded as a 0. Details regarding the location of the dietary lapse, level of fullness, and perceived severity of the lapse were also assessed (Table 1).

2.5 Statistical Analyses

Multi-level modeling was used due to the nested structure of the data (nested within parent-child dyad). Due to the likely insufficient power to detect random effects around the

slope, models were fit with fixed effects as described below and random intercept only. Because no studies have examined factors related to dietary lapses within parent-child dyads, covariates were not included in the analyses for specific aims 1 and 3. For specific aim 2, likelihood ratio tests were conducted to compare model fit among models that included variables known to impact weight change (sex, age, race, ethnicity, food insecurity, study site, household income, baseline weight). Models that included only baseline weight status (grand-mean centered) as a covariate had superior model fit. Analyses made use of all available demographic data (100% of all observations) and EMA data (84.6% of all observations). Missing EMA data were handled with maximum likelihood estimation without imputation given that the pattern of missing data was due to complete survey non-response. Diagnostic tests confirmed model assumptions, as appropriate. Analyses were conducted in R (version 4.0.3) using the lme4 package for multilevel modeling (Bates et al., 2015).

2.5.1 Analyses for Specific Aim 1

Separate generalized linear mixed models with a Poisson distribution for count data first evaluated between-person and within-person change in parent dietary lapses and child dietary lapses throughout 3-month FBT. Models were fit with random intercept and fixed effect of time. Then, separate generalized linear mixed models with a binomial distribution examined the between-person and within-person effects of intrapersonal and socioenvironmental cues of parent dietary lapses. These models were fit with random intercept and fixed effects of time, betweenperson centered socioenvironmental and intrapersonal cues, and person-level centered socioenvironmental and intrapersonal cues.

2.5.2 Analyses for Specific Aim 2

Separate linear mixed models first examined parent and child weight change at each major study period (baseline to month 2, baseline to month 3, month 2 to month 3). Models were fit with random intercept and fixed effects of time and baseline weight as a covariate. Sedak corrections were applied to follow-up contrasts to adjust for multiple comparisons. Then, separate linear mixed models evaluated the effect of parent dietary lapses on parent and child weight change across 3-month FBT. Models were fit with random intercept and fixed effects of time, grand-mean centered dietary lapses, time by dietary lapses interactions, and baseline weight as a covariate. To probe the cross-level interactions, simple slope analyses were conducted to evaluate the association between time and weight at varying levels of parent dietary lapses (1 SD below the grand mean, 1 SD above the grand mean). Post hoc follow-up analyses using Kendall's rank correlations were also conducted to examine whether the total number of EMA surveys completed per day was associated with the number of daily parent and child dietary lapses recorded.

2.5.3 Analyses for Specific Aim 3 (Exploratory)

Kendall's rank correlation was first conducted to examine the association between severity of parent dietary lapses and the occurrence of child dietary lapses at the concomitant timepoint. To further explore whether the association between severity of parent dietary lapses and the occurrence of child dietary lapses varied between and within families, a generalized linear mixed model with a binomial distribution was conducted with random intercept and fixed effects of time, between-person centered parent dietary lapse severity, and person-level centered parent dietary lapse severity.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Participant Characteristics

Across study sites, most parent-child dyads (N = 19) identified as female (57.9% for children, 89.5% for parents), non-Hispanic (84.2% for children and parents), and Caucasian (68.4% for children and parents). At baseline, children were mean 9.11 years of age (SD = 2.08), and parents were mean 35.4 years of age (SD = 5.22). Most parents reported a high school diploma or GED (57.9% for mothers, 36.8% for fathers) as their highest level of education. Most households were classified as food secure (68.4%). Participating families were equally represented across pediatric practices in urban Kansas City, MO (47.4%) and rural Joplin, MO (52.6%). Baseline child mean percent overweight was 61.4 (SD = 28.2), and parent mean BMI was 40.2 kg/m² (SD = 9.03). Across EMA surveys at baseline, the mean number of red foods parents planned to eat on a given day was 2.47 (SD = 1.13), and the mean number of red foods their child planned to eat was 2.53 (SD = 1.13). Across EMA surveys at baseline, parents reported a mean of 3.37 (SD = 2.06) dietary lapses and a mean of 4.32 (SD = 2.96) dietary lapses on behalf of their child. Parent and child sample demographics are presented in Appendix C and D, respectively. Parent and child weight and dietary lapses over the three study periods are presented in Table 2. Parent and child dietary lapse characteristics over the three study periods are presented in Tables 3 and 4, respectively.

	Baseline	Month 2	Month 3
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Parent Dietary Lapses	3.37 (2.06)	2.63 (2.01)	2.37 (2.27)
Child Dietary Lapses	4.32 (2.96)	4.00 (3.68)	4.00 (3.86)
Parent BMI	40.2 (9.03)	39.7 (8.78)	39.6 (8.94)
Child Percent Overweight	61.4 (28.2)	61.2 (28.0)	60.7 (26.8)

 Table 2. Parent-Child Dietary Lapses and Weight at Each Major EMA Study Period

Note. M, mean. SD, standard deviation.

 Table 3. Parent Dietary Lapse Characteristics at Each Major Study Period

	Baseline	Month 2	Month 3
	%	%	%
Eating Event			
Meal	66.7	83.3	61.1
Snack	33.3	11.1	11.1
Lapse Location			
Fast-Food Chain	11.1	22.2	11.1
Home	50.0	33.3	38.9
Restaurant	22.2	22.2	5.6
Work	11.1	0	0
Social Event	0	5.6	0
Other	5.6	11.1	16.7
Fullness			
Not at all	5.6	5.6	11.1
A little	27.8	16.7	22.2
Quite a bit	33.3	44.4	11.1
Extremely	33.3	27.8	27.8
Lapse Severity			
Not at all more than planned	27.8	22.2	22.2
A little more than planned	38.9	61.1	44.4
Quite a bit more than planned	27.8	27.8	5.6
A lot more than planned	5.6	5.6	0

Note. Percentages are based on available data at each study period from parents who reported at least one dietary lapse and thus do not add up to 100%.

	Baseline	Month 2	Month 3
	%	%	%
Eating Event			
Meal	78.9	57.9	52.6
Snack	21.1	26.3	26.3
Lapse Location			
Fast-Food Chain	10.5	5.3	0
Home	57.9	42.1	47.4
Restaurant	5.3	15.8	10.5
School	5.3	5.3	0
Social Event	5.3	5.3	10.5
Other	15.8	10.5	10.5
Lapse Severity			
Not at all more than planned	26.3	31.6	42.1
A little more than planned	63.2	47.4	26.3
Quite a bit more than planned	0	5.3	10.5
A lot more than planned	10.5	0	0

Table 4. Child Dietary Lapse Characteristics at Each Major Study Period

Note. Percentages are based on available data at each study period from parents who reported at least one child dietary lapse and thus do not add up to 100%.

3.2 EMA Adherence

A total of 1012 out of 1197 possible EMA surveys (84.6%) were completed over the course of the three study periods. On average, 87.4% (SD = 0.12, range = 62% - 100%) of EMA surveys were completed at baseline, 80.0% (SD = 0.16, range = 48% - 100%) of EMA surveys were completed at month 2, and 86.4% (SD = 0.13, range = 57% - 100%) of EMA surveys were completed at month 3.

3.3 Specific Aim 1: Change in Frequency of Parent and Child Dietary Lapses

Across all EMA surveys, parents reported a total of 159 dietary lapses (64 at baseline, 50 at month 2, 45 at month 3), and a total of 234 child dietary lapses (82 at baseline, 76 at month 2, 76 at month 3). The interclass correlation coefficients of the unconditional models for parent dietary lapses and child dietary lapses were 0.87 and 0.75, respectively, indicating that most of the variance in parent and child dietary lapses occurred at the between-person level. A depiction
of within-person variability in parent and child dietary lapses of 4 families is presented in Figure 1.

There was a significant effect of time on the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse, (B = -0.18, SE = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.22, -0.14], p < .001), such that the odds of a parent dietary lapse decreased over the course of 3-month FBT (OR: 0.84, 95% OR CI [0.80, 0.87]). Similarly, there was a significant effect of time on the likelihood of a child dietary lapse, (B = -0.04, SE = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.07, -0.004], p = .03), such that the odds of a parent-reported child dietary lapse decreased over the course of 3-month FBT (OR: 0.96, 95% OR CI [0.93, 1.00]). Change in the predicted probabilities of parent and child dietary lapses throughout 3-month FBT are presented in Figure 2 and 3, respectively.



Figure 1. Within-Person Variability in Parent and Child Dietary Lapses



Figure 2. Change in Predicted Probability of Parent Dietary Lapses



Plot of Child Dietary Lapses over 3-Month FBT

Figure 3. Change in Predicted Probability of Child Dietary Lapses

3.4 Specific Aim 1: Parent Dietary Lapse Cues

Table 5 provides descriptive statistics for cues of parent dietary lapses at the sample level. Table 6 summarizes results from the generalized linear mixed models of parent dietary lapse cues.

Table 5. Parent Dietary Lapse Cues at the Sample Level

	M (SD)	
Intrapersonal Cues		
Upset	0.38 (0.81)	
Hostile	0.13 (0.49)	
Ashamed	0.13 (0.48)	
Nervous	0.39 (0.82)	
Afraid	0.30 (0.75)	
Stress - confidence with demands	1.12 (0.95)	
Stress - control over demands	0.90 (0.98)	
Hunger	0.53 (0.75)	
Craving	0.34 (0.69)	
Socioenvironmental Cues		
Unhealthy food presence	0.68 (0.47)	
Access to healthy foods	0.86 (0.35)	
Afford healthy foods	0.83 (0.37)	

Note. M, mean; SD, standard deviation.

	В	SE	Z Value	OR	95% OR CI	р
Between-Person Effects						
Intrapersonal Cues						
Upset	0.81	0.42	1.93	2.24	0.99, 5.08	.05
Hostile	0.34	0.77	0.45	1.41	0.31, 6.35	.65
Ashamed	1.11	0.59	1.89	3.02	0.96, 9.53	.06
Nervous	0.37	0.38	0.99	1.45	0.70, 3.00	.32
Afraid	0.42	0.40	1.07	1.53	0.70, 3.33	.29
Stress - confidence with demands	0.35	0.28	1.23	1.41	0.82, 2.45	.22
Stress - control over demands	0.33	0.27	1.25	1.40	0.83, 2.36	.21
Hunger	1.88	0.86	2.20	6.57	1.23, 35.19	.03
Craving	1.57	0.59	2.68	4.80	1.53, 15.12	.01
Socioenvironmental Cues						
Unhealthy food presence	1.15	0.89	1.29	3.15	0.55, 18.15	.20
Access to healthy foods	-1.68	1.41	-1.19	0.19	0.01, 2.94	.23
Afford healthy foods	-1.46	1.02	-1.43	0.23	0.03, 1.71	.15
Within-Person Effects						
Intrapersonal Cues						
Upset	0.15	0.12	1.24	1.16	0.92, 1.47	.22
Hostile	0.22	0.20	1.07	1.24	0.84, 1.85	.29
Ashamed	0.11	0.20	0.57	1.12	0.76, 1.66	.57
Nervous	0.002	0.14	0.02	1.00	0.76, 1.32	.99
Afraid	0.02	0.16	0.15	1.02	0.75, 1.40	.88
Stress - confidence over demands	0.29	0.14	1.98	1.33	1.00, 1.77	.04
Stress - control over demands	0.10	0.14	0.75	1.11	0.85, 1.44	.45
Hunger	0.09	0.15	0.59	1.09	0.82, 1.45	.56
Craving	0.02	0.13	0.12	1.02	0.79, 1.31	.90
Socioenvironmental Cues						
Unhealthy food presence	2.77	0.36	7.67	16.03	7.88, 32.58	<.001
Access to healthy foods	0.03	0.26	0.13	1.03	0.62, 1.74	.90
Afford healthy foods	0.18	0.28	0.66	1.20	0.70, 2.06	.51

 Table 6. Between-Person and Within-Person Effects of Dietary Lapse Cues

Note. SE, standard error; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval. Models were fit separately with each corresponding between-person and within-person cue.

3.4.1 Intrapersonal Cues

3.4.1.2 Negative Affect. Neither within-person nor between-person upset, hostility,

shame, nervousness, or afraid was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary

lapse.

3.4.1.3 Perceived Stress. Within-person, but not between-person, confidence in handling demands was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse (B = 0.29, SE = 0.14, 95% CI [0.00, 0.57], p = .04) (Figure 4). Controlling for average levels of between-person perceived confidence, parents who reported feeling less confident in handling demands on a given day were more likely to report a daily dietary lapse (OR: 1.33, 95% OR CI [1.002, 1.77]). Neither between-person nor within-person ability to control important things in life was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse.



Figure 4. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Within-Person Perceived Stress

Note. Confidence in handling demands is reversed scored, such that higher values = lower confidence.

3.4.1.4 Hunger. Between-person hunger was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse (B = 1.88, SE = 0.86, 95% CI [0.12, 3.72], p = .03) (Figure 5). On average, parents who reported greater daily hunger also tended to be more likely to report a daily dietary lapse (OR: 6.57, 95% OR CI [1.23, 35.19]). Within-person hunger was not significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse.



Figure 5. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Between-Person Hunger

3.4.1.5 Craving. Between-person craving was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse (B = 1.57, SE = 0.59, 95% CI [0.40, 2.86], p = .01) (Figure 6). On average, parents who reported greater daily hunger also tended to be more likely to report a daily dietary lapse (OR: 4.80, 95% OR CI [1.53, 15.12]). Within-person craving was not significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse.



Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Between-Person Craving

Figure 6. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Between-Person Craving 3.4.2 Socioenvironmental Cues

3.4.2.1 Presence of Unhealthy Foods. Within-person, but not between-person, presence of unhealthy foods was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse (B = 2.77, SE = 0.36, 95% CI [2.10, 3.55], p < .001) (Figure 7). Parents who reported having unhealthy foods in their surroundings on a given day were more likely to report a daily dietary lapse, controlling for average levels of unhealthy food presence (OR: 16.03, 95% OR CI [7.88, 32.58]).



Figure 7. Predicted Probability of a Parent Dietary Lapse by Within-Person Presence of Unhealthy Foods

3.4.2.2 Access to Healthy Foods. Neither within-person nor between-person access to healthy foods was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse.

3.4.2.3 Affordability of Healthy Foods. Neither within-person nor between-person ability to afford healthy foods was significantly associated with the likelihood of a parent dietary lapse.

3.5 Specific Aim 2: Parent-Child Dietary Lapses and Parent-Child Weight Change

Parents demonstrated significant reductions in BMI from baseline to month 2 (Least Square M = 0.44, SE = 0.03, 95% CI: [0.36, 0.52], p < .001), baseline to month 3 (Least Square M = 0.53, SE = 0.03, 95% CI: [0.46, 0.62], p < .001), and month 2 to month 3 (Least Square M = 0.09, SE = 0.03, 95% CI: [0.01, 0.17], p < .001). Children also demonstrated significant reductions in percent overweight from baseline to month 3 (Least Squares M = 0.69, SE = 0.23, 95% CI: [0.16, 1.22], p = .01) but not from baseline to month 1 (Least Squares M = 0.18, SE =

0.23, 95% CI: [-0.35, 0.71], *p* = .71), or month 2 to month 3 (Least Squares *M* = 0.51, SE = 0.23, 95% CI: [-0.01, 1.04], *p* = .06).

Results of the adjusted linear mixed-effects models are presented in Table 7. The magnitude of weight change for parents (B = -0.08, SE = 0.01, 95% CI [-0.10, -0.06], p < .001) as well as for children (B = -0.11, SE = 0.05, 95% CI [-0.23, -0.003], p = .04) was moderated by the frequency of parent dietary lapses (Figures 8 and 9). Parents with above average dietary lapses relative to the grand mean demonstrated significantly greater weight loss compared to parents with below average dietary lapses (Least Squares M = -0.34, SE = 0.03, 95% CI: [-0.40, -0.27], p < .001). Children of parents with above average dietary lapses relative to the grand mean also demonstrated significantly greater weight loss compared to children of parents with below average dietary lapses (Least Squares M = -0.48, SE = 0.24, 95% CI: [-0.95, -0.01], p = .04). Results of the post hoc analyses indicated significant, albeit small, positive correlations between the number of completed daily EMA surveys and the number of recorded daily parent dietary lapses ($r_{\tau} = 0.08$, p < .01) and child dietary lapses ($r_{\tau} = 0.09$, p < .01).

	В	SE	T Value	95% CI	р				
Change in Parent Weight as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses									
Intercept	39.76	2.05	19.36	35.63, 43.88	<.001				
Time	-0.18	0.02	-10.88	-0.21, -0.15	<.001				
Parent Dietary Lapses	0.24	0.01	16.72	0.21, 0.27	<.001				
Time x Parent Dietary Lapses	-0.08	0.001	-10.09	-0.10, -0.06	<.001				
Change in Child Weight as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses									
Intercept	62.42	6.32	9.87	49.73, 75.12	<.001				
Time	-0.49	0.12	-4.12	-0.72, -0.26	<.001				
Parent Dietary Lapses	-0.20	0.10	-1.87	-0.40, 0.01	.06				
Time x Parent Dietary Lapses	-0.11	0.06	-2.02	-0.23, -0.003	.04				

Table 7. Mixed Effects Models Examining Weight Change as a Function of Dietary Lapses

Note. Models adjusted for parent and child baseline weight. Parent dietary lapses are grand mean centered.



Figure 8. Parent Weight Change over 3-Month FBT as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses



Figure 9. Child Weight Change over 3-Month FBT as a Function of Parent Dietary Lapses

3.6 Specific Aim 3: Parent Dietary Lapse Intensity and Child Dietary Lapse Occurrence

There was a non-significant positive correlation between parent dietary lapse intensity and the occurrence of a child dietary lapse at the concomitant timepoint ($r_{\tau} = 0.12$, p = .11). Results from the multi-level model also indicated a non-significant association between parent dietary lapse intensity and child dietary lapse occurrence when accounting for differences between families (B = 0.71, SE = 0.38, 95% CI [-0.12, 1.53], p = .06) and within families (B = 0.01, SE = 0.27, 95% CI [-0.53, 0.55], p = .96).

Chapter 4: Discussion

The current study was designed to better understand the context in which parent and child dietary lapses occur in families from low-income households as well as to evaluate the impact of dietary lapses on parent-child weight change throughout 3-month FBT. Study findings extend the literature on modifiable risk factors for childhood obesity by revealing precise moments to support family eating self-regulation. The following sections summarize the results and provide suggestions for future research.

4.1 Parent and Child Dietary Lapse Frequency

On average, parents reported between 2 to 3 dietary lapses/week on their own behalf and 4 to 5 dietary lapses/week on behalf of their child. Although no other studies have quantified dietary lapses within families, EMA studies in treatment-seeking adults with obesity tend to report a higher average weekly lapse rate (4 to 12 times/week) (Carels et al., 2001; Forman et al., 2017; Goldstein et al., 2020). Study differences in lapse rate may reflect how well participants can assess, and subsequently correct, moments of dietary non-adherence. In the current study, a dietary lapse (i.e., eating more red foods than planned) was defined within the context of FBT. This operational definition was informed by prior research that found an association between

dietary lapses characterized by eating outside of pre-planned meals/snacks and less early weight change (Goldstein, Thomas, et al., 2021). However, this study was conducted with a community sample of adults who were not exclusively low-income. Although families are encouraged to pre-plan their meals and snacks throughout FBT, it is possible that families from low-income households experience unique barriers to pre-planning (e.g., unreliable access to healthy foods, irregular schedules). Thus, other operational definitions may better capture the eating behaviors of low-income families. Engaging FBT participants in the design of future dietary lapse studies could help propose alternative definitions and provide further context on the dietary lapse rate observed in the current study.

Future studies should also consider alternative methods of assessing child dietary lapses. Parents were chosen as informants in line with prior data that show moderate agreement between parent-reported child dietary intake via EMA and objectively 24-hour child dietary recall (Loth et al., 2021). However, child dietary lapses may have occurred outside of eating events with the parent, such as during school hours. FBT encourages parents to have regular check-ins with their child, which provides an opportunity for parents to be informed about child eating behaviors and problem solve barriers to dietary adherence. Future EMA studies should gather information regarding how the parent became aware of the child dietary lapse (e.g., observed the lapse, discussed the lapse during a regular check-in), which could improve reporting accuracy and reinforce use of FBT skills.

4.2 Change in Parent and Child Dietary Lapse

Consistent with study hypotheses, both parents and children demonstrated significant, albeit modest, reductions in dietary lapses throughout 3-month FBT. Parents demonstrated reductions in lapses at all three time points, whereas children only demonstrated reductions in

lapses from baseline to month 3. In the absence of a control group, causal claims cannot be made regarding whether FBT directly led to dietary lapse reductions. However, findings may suggest that reductions in dietary lapses were associated with the application of FBT skills that promote awareness and modification of eating behavior, such as pre-planning, goal setting, and self-monitoring. An important future direction is to collect EMA data on daily use of FBT skills to evaluate whether skills acquisition is correlated with reductions in lapses throughout FBT. Future studies should also evaluate change in dietary lapses over a longer course of FBT. An EMA study in treatment-seeking adults showed decreases in dietary lapses from baseline to mid-treatment but increases from mid-treatment to post-treatment, which was likely due to decreased motivation as weight loss plateaued (Forman et al., 2017). Fluctuations in motivation may be more prevalent in families from low-income households if they lack adequate resources to sustain long-term behavior change or handle setbacks (Laroche et al., 2022). Thus, future studies should examine the long-term course of dietary lapses throughout FBT to identify key moments to support motivation and self-efficacy among families from low-income households.

4.3 Predictors of Parent Dietary Lapses

4.3.1 Intrapersonal Cues

Contrary to study hypotheses, none of the negative moods were associated with a parent dietary lapse. These findings contradict previous EMA studies of dietary lapses (Crochiere et al., 2022; Forman et al., 2017) that have shown that global negative affect predicts the onset of a dietary lapse. Affect regulation models posit that overeating serves as a maladaptive coping strategy for managing negative mood (Heatherton & Baumeister, 1991). Although few studies have examined specific negative affective states in relation to dietary lapses, EMA studies in adults with binge eating pathology consistently demonstrate that self-referential emotions

increase prior to a binge episode and decrease relatively quickly following the binge episode (Berg et al., 2015; Fischer et al., 2017; Schaefer et al., 2020). Consistent with these findings, between-person shame was close to statistical significance in the current study. Thus, assessing a wider range of self-referential emotions (e.g., guilt, embarrassment, rejection) may be an important future direction.

As hypothesized, results also showed that within-person stress regarding feeling less confident in handling demands was associated with a parent dietary lapse. This finding is consistent with prior EMA studies that have shown a link between parent stress and unhealthy feeding practices (Berge et al., 2020; Berge, Tate, Trofholz, Fertig, et al., 2018). Self-determination theory posits that an individual is more likely to persist with a behavior if they feel a sense of autonomy in driving the behavior as well as control and competency in executing the behavior (Deci & Ryan, 2012; Hagger et al., 2014). It is plausible that stress could erode autonomous motivation in the moment and lead to a dietary lapse. Indeed, one EMA study found that momentary decreased confidence in meeting dietary goals was predictive of a dietary lapse among treatment-seeking adults with obesity (Crochiere et al., 2022). These findings underscore the importance of assessing parent self-efficacy throughout FBT as well as ensuring that families have adequate financial and social resources to make long-lasting health behavior changes.

Last, between-person hunger and craving were associated with a parent dietary lapse, indicating that parents who tended to report greater daily hunger or craving were also more likely to report a dietary lapse compared to those who reported less daily hunger or craving. These finding offer practical implications for FBT. Parents who report irregular schedules may need greater support around establishing regular meals and snacks, which is an important strategy to improve appetite control (La Bounty et al., 2011; Smeets & Westerterp-Plantenga, 2008).

Further, parents may need continued assistance with nutritional education and meal preparation throughout treatment. Since early treatment response is a robust predictor of overall treatment response (Goldschmidt et al., 2011; Nackers et al., 2010) hands-on support from a nutritionist could be especially helpful in the first months of FBT. A just-in-time intervention could be used adjunctively with FBT by delivering momentary prompts to remind parents to include protein and fiber at their next meal or by providing brief emotion regulation exercises to address craving (e.g., distraction, urge surfing).

4.3.2 Socioenvironmental Cues

Within-person presence of unhealthy foods was associated with increased likelihood for a daily dietary lapse, indicating that parents who reported having unhealthy foods in their surroundings on a given day were more likely to report a daily dietary lapse. This finding is consistent with goal-conflict theory of self-regulation, which posits that the presence of external diet-incongruent food cues in the immediate environment undermines eating behavior selfregulation (Stroebe et al., 2008, 2013). Prior studies have shown that the presence of unhealthy foods in the home is associated with less fruit and vegetable intake in children (K. J. Campbell et al., 2007; Couch et al., 2014). Further, an FBT study showed that reducing red foods in the home was associated with greater decreases in child weight and total fat intake (Hayes et al., 2019). Given that parent and child dietary lapses were more frequently recorded at home than any other location, engineering the home food environment to support dietary adherence may be especially important to prevent dietary lapses in low-income households. More data are needed to understand attitudes and perceived barriers to altering the home food environment in this population. For instance, its plausible that parents may be hesitant to implement strategies like stimulus control (e.g., limit red foods in the home) if they lack financial resources to alter the

home food environment or if they experience food insecurity (Adams et al., 2022). Mixedmethod designs could elucidate attitudes and perceived barriers towards implementing key dietary change strategies and highlight opportunities to tailor FBT accordingly.

Contrary to study hypotheses, access to healthy foods was not associated with a parent dietary lapse. This finding is consistent with some data that show that healthy food availability is not sufficient to explain nutrition disparities among families from low-income households (Allcott et al., 2019; Elbel et al., 2015; Lent et al., 2014), especially when energy-dense foods are still prevalent in the home environment. Improving dietary adherence in economically-disadvantaged populations likely requires addressing other key determinants of diet quality, such as food shopping preferences, food purchasing behaviors, and sociocultural food practices (French et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2014; Monterrosa et al., 2020).

Additionally, healthy food affordability was not associated with a parent dietary lapse. This finding may be due to the limited range of healthy food affordability in the current sample. The majority (61.8%) of families considered themselves food secure. The cost of healthy foods may not be a primary barrier to dietary adherence among families that are low-income but otherwise have reliable access to affordable, nutritious foods. However, an inability to afford healthy foods may trigger a dietary lapse among food-insecure families. Of importance, the prevalence of food insecurity in the current study (38.2%) was slightly higher than the national average for low-income households (range 26.5% - 32.1%) (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). Prior studies show that low-income, food-insecure households vary from low-income, food-secure households in terms of quantity and quality of food purchases (Gregory et al., 2019; Leung et al., 2014; Morales & Berkowitz, 2016). Compared to food-secure households, food-insecure households report greater consumption from energy-dense foods (Leung et al., 2014), have a

greater probability of not purchasing fruit, dairy, and protein among their total food at home purchases (Gregory et al., 2019), and spend a greater proportion of their food at home budget at convenience stores (Gregory et al., 2019). Future studies should examine whether food insecurity status moderates the association between healthy food affordability and dietary lapses. Future research should also consider strategies to better connect food-insecure families participating in FBT with local food assistance programs.

4.4 Moderating Role of Parent Dietary Lapses in Relation to Parent-Child Weight Change

Contrary to study hypotheses, parents with more frequent dietary lapses demonstrated a greater rate of weight loss throughout 3-month FBT and had a child who demonstrated a greater rate of weight loss throughout 3-month FBT. These results contradict some prior EMA studies that show that more frequent dietary lapses are associated with less weight loss in treatmentseeking adults with obesity (Forman et al., 2017, 2019) as well as increased daily caloric intake and a greater likelihood to exceed their daily calorie goal (Goldstein et al., 2022). An alternative explanation is that frequent recording of dietary lapses may be a proxy for self-monitoring, which is a cornerstone of behavioral weight loss treatment (Burke et al., 2011). Results of the post-hoc test indicated that parents who responded to more daily EMA surveys also tended to report more parent and child dietary lapses. Parents who track dietary lapses more frequently may become more aware of eating behaviors that are incongruent with their dietary goals and may be more likely to adjust accordingly, which could drive greater relative weight loss. Indeed, a prior EMA study found that a greater number of weekly dietary lapses was associated with greater weekly weight loss among adults who completed a higher proportion of EMA surveys (Goldstein, Brick, et al., 2021). Future research should evaluate differences between frequent and

non-frequent dietary lapse reporters in terms of FBT skill usage, caloric intake during the eating event, and size of the dietary lapse.

4.5 Association of Parent Dietary Lapse Intensity and Occurrence of Child Dietary Lapse

The correlation between parent dietary lapse severity and child dietary lapse occurrence was not significant even after accounting for between- and within-person effects in the multilevel model. EMA studies have shown that dietary lapses are highly idiographic (Goldstein et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2022). Thus, it is possible that the lack of significant association is due to a high degree of variability in eating behavior across and within families. Future research should replicate these findings in a larger sample to evaluate the extent of concordance between parent lapse severity and child dietary lapse occurrence. Future research is also needed to contextualize how parent and child lapses may influence one another. For instance, parents who report more severe dietary lapses may "recover" from the distress by engaging in coercive feeding practices (e.g., pressure to eat, restriction) to prevent a child lapse at the same eating event. Pressure to eat and restriction have been consistently linked to poor child diet quality and facets of poor child eating self-regulation (Entin et al., 2014; Mou et al., 2021; Ventura & Birch, 2008). The atmosphere of the feeding environment may also pose risk for shared parent and child dietary lapses. One EMA study of low-income families found that parents who described a mealtime environment as tense or chaotic were more likely to report restricting child dietary intake during that eating event (Berge, Tate, Trofholz, Loth, et al., 2018). Thus, it is possible that parent attempts to gain control during a stressful eating event may backfire and lead to a parent and child dietary lapse in some families. Collecting EMA data on parent motivators for certain feeding practices as well as the atmosphere of the feeding environment could clarify the extent to

which parent and child dietary lapses are related as well as inform targets for real-time intervention.

4.6 Strengths and Limitations

Study strengths include the use of an ecologically-valid assessment tool to characterize fluctuations in parent-child eating behavior rather than relying on biased retrospective recall, excellent EMA adherence (84.6%) comparable to studies of dietary lapses in more resourced samples (Forman et al., 2017), the objective assessment of body composition, and engaging community stakeholders to evaluate study feasibility for low-income households. There are several limitations worth noting. Recruitment challenges lead to under-enrollment of study participants, which likely impacted power to detect true effects. Results should be replicated in an adequately powered sample to ensure reliability of study findings. Moreover, parents were used as informants for child dietary lapses. Future studies should consider different strategies to improve the reporting accuracy of child dietary lapses. EMA surveys were administered only throughout the first 3 months of treatment to evaluate the impact of dietary lapses on early treatment response. Future work should extend EMA data collection to examine dietary lapse trajectories throughout a full course of FBT. Last, other dietary lapse definitions may better reflect the experiences of families from low-income households. Future studies should engage families as key stakeholders in defining and evaluating dietary lapses throughout FBT.

4.7 Conclusion

The current study is the first naturalistic examination of dietary lapses among families from low-income households participating in FBT. Results highlight the importance of targeting certain intrapersonal and socioenvironmental cues to prevent parent dietary lapses and demonstrate the impact of parent dietary lapses on early parent-child FBT response. Study

findings will inform the future development of real-time childhood obesity interventions that can be disseminated to underserved families at risk for obesity treatment non-response.

References

- Adams, E. L., Caccavale, L. J., LaRose, J. G., Raynor, H. A., & Bean, M. K. (2022). Home food environment changes and dietary intake during an adolescent behavioral weight loss intervention differ by food security status. *Nutrients*, 14(5), 976. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14050976
- Allcott, H., Diamond, R., Dubé, J.-P., Handbury, J., Rahkovsky, I., & Schnell, M. (2019). Food Deserts and the Causes of Nutritional Inequality*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 134(4), 1793–1844. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjz015
- American Psychological Association. (2017). Stress and health disparities: Contexts, mechanisms, and interventions among racial/ethnic minority and low socioeconomic status populations [Data set]. APA Working Group on Stress and Health Disparities. https://doi.org/10.1037/e500202018-001
- Anderson, L., Fatima, T., Shah, B., Smith, B. T., Fuller, A. E., Borkhoff, C. M., Keown-Stoneman, C. D. G., Maguire, J. L., & Birken, C. S. (2022). Income and neighbourhood deprivation in relation to obesity in urban dwelling children 0–12 years of age: A crosssectional study from 2013 to 2019. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 76(3), 274–280. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2021-216455
- Anderson, S. A. (1990). Core indicators of nutritional state for difficult-to-sample populations. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *120*(supp 11), 1555–1600. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/120.suppl_11.1555
- Balantekin, K. N., Anzman-Frasca, S., Francis, L. A., Ventura, A. K., Fisher, J. O., & Johnson,S. L. (2020). Positive parenting approaches and their association with child eating and

weight: A narrative review from infancy to adolescence. *Pediatric Obesity*, *15*(10), e12722. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12722

- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bauer, K. W., MacLehose, R., Loth, K. A., Fisher, J. O., Larson, N. I., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2015). Eating- and weight-related parenting of adolescents in the context of food insecurity. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *115*(9), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.01.011
- Berg, K. C., Crosby, R. D., Cao, L., Crow, S. J., Engel, S. G., Wonderlich, S. A., & Peterson, C.
 B. (2015). Negative affect prior to and following overeating-only, loss of control eating-only, and binge eating episodes in obese adults. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 48(6), 641–653. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22401
- Berge, J. M., Fertig, A. R., Trofholz, A., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Rogers, E., & Loth, K. (2020). Associations between parental stress, parent feeding practices, and child eating behaviors within the context of food insecurity. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 19, 101146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101146
- Berge, J. M., Tate, A., Trofholz, A., Fertig, A., Crow, S., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Miner, M. (2018). Examining within- and across-day relationships between transient and chronic stress and parent food-related parenting practices in a racially/ethnically diverse and immigrant population. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 15, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0629-1

- Berge, J. M., Tate, A., Trofholz, A., Fertig, A. R., Miner, M., Crow, S., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2017). Momentary parental stress and food-related parenting practices. *Pediatrics*, 140(6), e20172295. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-2295
- Berge, J. M., Tate, A., Trofholz, A., Loth, K., Miner, M., Crow, S., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2018). Examining variability in parent feeding practices within a low-income, racially/ethnically diverse, and immigrant population using ecological momentary assessment. *Appetite*, *127*, 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.04.006
- Berge, J. M., Trofholz, A., Tate, A., Beebe, M., Fertig, A., Miner, M., Crow, S., Culhane-Pera, K. A., Pergament, S., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2017). Examining unanswered questions about the home environment and childhood obesity disparities using an incremental, mixed-methods, longitudinal study design: The Family Matters Study. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 62, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2017.08.002
- Best, J. R., Goldschmidt, A. B., Mockus-Valenzuela, D. S., Stein, R. I., Epstein, L. H., &
 Wilfley, D. E. (2016). Shared weight and dietary changes in parent–child dyads following family-based obesity treatment. *Health Psychology*, *35*(1), 92–95.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000247
- Blumberg, S. J., Bialostosky, K., Hamilton, W. L., & Briefel, R. R. (1999). The effectiveness of a short form of the Household Food Security Scale. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89(8), 1231–1234. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.89.8.1231
- Boutelle, K. N., Cafri, G., & Crow, S. J. (2012). Parent predictors of child weight change in family based behavioral obesity treatment. *Obesity*, 20(7), 1539–1543. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2012.48

- Boutelle, K. N., Kang Sim, D. E., Rhee, K. E., Manzano, M., & Strong, D. R. (2021). Familybased treatment program contributors to child weight loss. *International Journal of Obesity*, 45(1), 77–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-0604-9
- Boutelle, K. N., Rhee, K. E., Liang, J., Braden, A., Douglas, J., Strong, D., Rock, C. L., Wilfley, D. E., Epstein, L. H., & Crow, S. J. (2017). Effect of attendance of the child on body weight, energy intake, and physical activity in childhood obesity treatment: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *171*(7), 622–628. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0651
- Bridger Staatz, C., Kelly, Y., Lacey, R. E., Blodgett, J. M., George, A., Arnot, M., Walker, E., & Hardy, R. (2021). Socioeconomic position and body composition in childhood in highand middle-income countries: A systematic review and narrative synthesis. *International Journal of Obesity*, 45(11), 2316–2334. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-00899-y
- Buckland, N. J., Finlayson, G., Edge, R., & Hetherington, M. M. (2014). Resistance reminders:
 Dieters reduce energy intake after exposure to diet-congruent food images compared to control non-food images. *Appetite*, 73, 189–196.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.10.022

- Buckland, N. J., Finlayson, G., & Hetherington, M. M. (2013). Pre-exposure to diet-congruent food reduces energy intake in restrained dieting women. *Eating Behaviors*, 14(3), 249– 254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.03.003
- Burke, L. E., Wang, J., & Sevick, M. A. (2011). Self-monitoring in weight loss: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 111(1), 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2010.10.008

- Buttitta, M., Iliescu, C., Rousseau, A., & Guerrien, A. (2014). Quality of life in overweight and obese children and adolescents: A literature review. *Quality of Life Research*, 23(4), 1117–1139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-013-0568-5
- Campbell, D. J. T., Ronksley, P. E., Manns, B. J., Tonelli, M., Sanmartin, C., Weaver, R. G., Hennessy, D., King-Shier, K., Campbell, T., Hemmelgarn, B. R., & Interdisciplinary Chronic Disease Collaboration. (2014). The association of income with health behavior change and disease monitoring among patients with chronic disease. *PloS One*, 9(4), e94007. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0094007
- Campbell, K. J., Crawford, D. A., Salmon, J., Carver, A., Garnett, S. P., & Baur, L. A. (2007).
 Associations between the home food environment and obesity-promoting eating behaviors in adolescence. *Obesity*, *15*(3), 719–730. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.553
- Carels, R. A., Douglass, O. M., Cacciapaglia, H. M., & O'Brien, W. H. (2004). An Ecological Momentary Assessment of Relapse Crises in Dieting. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(2), 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.2.341
- Carels, R. A., Hoffman, J., Collins, A., Raber, A. C., Cacciapaglia, H., & O'Brien, W. H. (2001).
 Ecological momentary assessment of temptation and lapse in dieting. *Eating Behaviors*, 2(4), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1471-0153(01)00037-x
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396.
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbit, M., Gregory, C., & Singh, A. (2022). Household food security in the United States in 2021 (ERR 309). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

- Coppock, J. H., Ridolfi, D. R., Hayes, J. F., St Paul, M., & Wilfley, D. E. (2014). Current approaches to the management of pediatric overweight and obesity. *Current Treatment Options in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *16*(11), 343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11936-014-0343-0
- Couch, S. C., Glanz, K., Zhou, C., Sallis, J. F., & Saelens, B. E. (2014). Home food environment in relation to children's diet quality and weight status. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *114*(10), 1569-1579.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.05.015
- Crochiere, R. J., Abber, S. R., Taylor, L. C., Sala, M., Schumacher, L. M., Goldstein, S. P., & Forman, E. M. (2022). Momentary predictors of dietary lapse from a mobile health weight loss intervention. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 45(2), 324–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-021-00264-4
- Cunningham, S. A., Kramer, M. R., & Venkat Narayan, K. M. (2014). Incidence of childhood obesity in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(5), 403–411. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1309753
- Darmon, N., & Drewnowski, A. (2015). Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: A systematic review and analysis. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(10), 643–660. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuv027
- Davison, G. M., Fowler, L. A., Ramel, M., Stein, R. I., Conlon, R. P. K., Saelens, B. E., Welch,
 R. R., Perri, M. G., Epstein, L. H., & Wilfley, D. E. (2021). Racial and socioeconomic disparities in the efficacy of a family-based treatment programme for paediatric obesity. *Pediatric Obesity*, 16(10), e12792. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12792

Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Self-determination theory. In Handbook of theories of social psychology, Vol. 1 (pp. 416–436). Sage Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446249215.n21

- Dunkel Schetter, C., Schafer, P., Lanzi, R. G., Clark-Kauffman, E., Raju, T. N. K., & Hillemeier, M. M. (2013). Shedding light on the mechanisms underlying health disparities through community participatory methods: The stress pathway. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(6), 613–633. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691613506016
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Dzubur, E., Leventhal, A., Huh, J., Gruenewald, T., Margolin, G., Koprowski, C., Tate, E., & Intille, S. (2015). Investigating within-day and longitudinal effects of maternal stress on children's physical activity, dietary intake, and body composition: Protocol for the Match Study. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 43, 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2015.05.007
- Elbel, B., Moran, A., Dixon, L. B., Kiszko, K., Cantor, J., Abrams, C., & Mijanovich, T. (2015).
 Assessment of a government-subsidized supermarket in a high-need area on household food availability and children's dietary intakes. *Public Health Nutrition*, 18(15), 2881–2890. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980015000282
- Entin, A., Kaufman-Shriqui, V., Naggan, L., Vardi, H., & Shahar, D. R. (2014). Parental feeding practices in relation to low diet quality and obesity among LSES children. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 33(4), 306–314.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2013.874936

Epstein, L. H. (1993). Methodological issues and ten-year outcomes for obese children. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 699, 237–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1993.tb18854.x

- Epstein, L. H., Paluch, R. A., Beecher, M. D., & Roemmich, J. N. (2008). Increasing healthy eating vs. Reducing high energy-dense foods to treat pediatric obesity. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, *16*(2), 318–326. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.61
- Epstein, L. H., Raja, S., Daniel, T. O., Paluch, R. A., Wilfley, D. E., Saelens, B. E., &
 Roemmich, J. N. (2012). The built environment moderates effects of family-based
 childhood obesity treatment over 2 years. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 44(2), 248–
 258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-012-9383-4
- Ettman, C. K., Cohen, G. H., & Galea, S. (2020). Is wealth associated with depressive symptoms in the United States? *Annals of Epidemiology*, 43, 25-31.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.02.001
- Faith, M. S., Van Horn, L., Appel, L. J., Burke, L. E., Carson, J. A. S., Franch, H. A., Jakicic, J. M., Kral, T. V. E., Odoms-Young, A., Wansink, B., Wylie-Rosett, J., American Heart Association Nutrition and Obesity Committees of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Cardiovascular Nursing, & Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, and Council on the Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease. (2012). Evaluating parents and adult caregivers as "agents of change" for treating obese children: Evidence for parent behavior change strategies and research gaps: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *125*(9), 1186–1207.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.0b013e31824607ee

Fischer, S., Breithaupt, L., Wonderlich, J., Westwater, M. L., Crosby, R. D., Engel, S. G., Thompson, J., Lavender, J., & Wonderlich, S. (2017). Impact of the neural correlates of stress and cue reactivity on stress related binge eating in the natural environment. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 92, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.03.017

- Forman, E. M., Goldstein, S. P., Crochiere, R. J., Butryn, M. L., Juarascio, A. S., Zhang, F., & Foster, G. D. (2019). Randomized controlled trial of OnTrack, a just-in-time adaptive intervention designed to enhance weight loss. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 9(6), 989–1001. https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibz137
- Forman, E. M., Schumacher, L. M., Crosby, R., Manasse, S. M., Goldstein, S. P., Butryn, M. L., Wyckoff, E. P., & Thomas, J. G. (2017). Ecological momentary assessment of dietary lapses across behavioral weight loss treatment: Characteristics, predictors, and relationships with weight change. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *51*(5), 741–753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-017-9897-x
- Fowler, L. A., Grammer, A. C., Ray, M. K., Balantekin, K. N., Stein, R. I., Kolko Conlon, R. P., Welch, R. R., Perri, M. G., Epstein, L. H., & Wilfley, D. E. (2021). Examining the interdependence of parent-child dyads: Effects on weight loss and maintenance. *Pediatric Obesity*, 16(1), e12697. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12697
- Freedman, D. S., Mei, Z., Srinivasan, S. R., Berenson, G. S., & Dietz, W. H. (2007).
 Cardiovascular risk factors and excess adiposity among overweight children and adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *150*(1), 12-17.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.08.042
- French, S. A., Tangney, C. C., Crane, M. M., Wang, Y., & Appelhans, B. M. (2019). Nutrition quality of food purchases varies by household income: The SHoPPER study. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 231. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6546-2

- Fryar, C. D., Carroll, M. D., & Ogden, C. L. (2018). Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2015–2016 (p. 6). National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.).
- Goldschmidt, A. B., Best, J. R., Stein, R. I., Saelens, B. E., Epstein, L. H., & Wilfley, D. E.
 (2014). Predictors of child weight loss and maintenance among family-based treatment completers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 82(6), 1140–1150. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037169
- Goldschmidt, A. B., Stein, R. I., Saelens, B. E., Theim, K. R., Epstein, L. H., & Wilfley, D. E.
 (2011). Importance of early weight change in a pediatric weight management trial. *Pediatrics*, 128(1), e33-39. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-2814
- Goldstein, S. P., Brick, L. A., Thomas, J. G., & Forman, E. M. (2021). Examination of the relationship between lapses and weight loss in a smartphone-based just-in time adaptive intervention. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *11*(4), 993–1005. https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibaa097
- Goldstein, S. P., Dochat, C., Schumacher, L. M., Manasse, S. M., Crosby, R. D., Thomas, J. G., Butryn, M. L., & Forman, E. M. (2018). Using ecological momentary assessment to better understand dietary lapse types. *Appetite*, *129*, 198–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.07.003
- Goldstein, S. P., Evans, E. W., Espel-Huynh, H. M., Goldstein, C. M., Karchere-Sun, R., & Thomas, J. G. (2022). Dietary lapses are associated with meaningful elevations in daily caloric intake and added sugar consumption during a lifestyle modification intervention. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.587

- Goldstein, S. P., Thomas, J. G., Brick, L. A., Zhang, F., & Forman, E. M. (2021). Identifying behavioral types of dietary lapse from a mobile weight loss program: Preliminary investigation from a secondary data analysis. *Appetite*, *166*, 105440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2021.105440
- Goldstein, S. P., Thomas, J. G., Foster, G. D., Turner-McGrievy, G., Butryn, M. L., Herbert, J. D., Martin, G. J., & Forman, E. M. (2020). Refining an algorithm-powered just-in-time adaptive weight control intervention: A randomized controlled trial evaluating model performance and behavioral outcomes. *Health Informatics Journal*, 26(4), 2315–2331. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458220902330
- Goldstein, S. P., Zhang, F., Thomas, J. G., Butryn, M. L., Herbert, J. D., & Forman, E. M.
 (2018). Application of machine learning to predict dietary lapses during weight loss. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, *12*(5), 1045–1052.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1932296818775757
- Gordon-Larsen, P. (2014). Food availability/convenience and obesity. *Advances in Nutrition*, 5(6), 809–817. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.114.007070
- Grammer, A. C., Balantekin, K. N., Barch, D. M., Markson, L., & Wilfley, D. E. (2022). Parentchild influences on child eating self-regulation and weight in early childhood: A systematic review. *Appetite*, *168*, 105733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2021.105733
- Gregory, C. A., Mancino, L., & Coleman, A. (2019). Food security and food purchase quality among low-income households: Findings from the National Household Food Acquisition and Purchase Survey (FoodAPS) (ERR-269). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

- Grilo, C. M., Shiffman, S., & Wing, R. R. (1989). Relapse crises and coping among dieters.
 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 57(4), 488–495.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.57.4.488
- Hager, E. R., Cockerham, A., O'Reilly, N., Harrington, D., Harding, J., Hurley, K. M., & Black,
 M. M. (2017). Food swamps and food deserts in Baltimore City, MD, USA: Associations with dietary behaviours among urban adolescent girls. *Public Health Nutrition*, 20(14), 2598–2607. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980016002123
- Hagger, M. S., Hardcastle, S. J., Chater, A., Mallett, C., Pal, S., & Chatzisarantis, N. L. D.
 (2014). Autonomous and controlled motivational regulations for multiple health-related behaviors: Between- and within-participants analyses. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 2(1), 565–601. https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2014.912945
- Hanson, K. L., & Connor, L. M. (2014). Food insecurity and dietary quality in US adults and children: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100(2), 684– 692. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.084525
- Hayes, J. F., Balantekin, K. N., Conlon, R. P. K., Brown, M. L., Stein, R. I., Welch, R. R., Perri, M. G., Schechtman, K. B., Epstein, L. H., Wilfley, D. E., & Saelens, B. E. (2019). Home and neighborhood built environment features in family-based treatment for childhood obesity. *Pediatric Obesity*, *14*(3), e12477. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12477
- Hayes, J. F., Fitzsimmons-Craft, E. E., Karam, A. M., Jakubiak, J., Brown, M. L., & Wilfley, D.
 E. (2018). Disordered eating attitudes and behaviors in youth with overweight and obesity: Implications for treatment. *Current Obesity Reports*, 7(3), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-018-0316-9

- Hazzard, V. M., Loth, K. A., Hooper, L., & Becker, C. B. (2020). Food insecurity and eating disorders: A review of emerging evidence. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 22(12), 74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-020-01200-0
- Heatherton, T. F., & Baumeister, R. F. (1991). Binge eating as escape from self-awareness. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*(1), 86–108. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.110.1.86
- Kessler, R. C., Petukhova, M., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Wittchen, H.-U. (2012).
 Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 21(3), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.1359
- Kuczmarski, R. J., Ogden, C. L., Guo, S. S., Grummer-Strawn, L. M., Flegal, K. M., Mei, Z.,
 Wei, R., Curtin, L. R., Roche, A. F., & Johnson, C. L. (2002). 2000 CDC growth charts
 for the United States: Methods and development. *Vital and Health Statistics. Series 11, Data from the National Health Survey*, 246, 1–190.
- La Bounty, P. M., Campbell, B. I., Wilson, J., Galvan, E., Berardi, J., Kleiner, S. M., Kreider, R.
 B., Stout, J. R., Ziegenfuss, T., Spano, M., Smith, A., & Antonio, J. (2011). International Society of Sports Nutrition position stand: Meal frequency. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 8, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1550-2783-8-4
- Landry, M. J., van den Berg, A. E., Asigbee, F. M., Vandyousefi, S., Ghaddar, R., & Davis, J. N.
 (2019). Child-report of food insecurity is associated with diet quality in children. *Nutrients*, *11*(7), 1574. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11071574
- Laroche, H. H., Park-Mroch, J., O'Shea, A., Rice, S., Cintron, Y., & Engebretsen, B. (2022).Resource mobilization combined with motivational interviewing to promote healthy behaviors and healthy weight in low-income families: An intervention feasibility study.

SAGE Open Medicine, 10, 20503121221102704.

https://doi.org/10.1177/20503121221102706

- Larson, N. I., Story, M. T., & Nelson, M. C. (2009). Neighborhood environments: Disparities in access to healthy foods in the U.S. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *36*(1), 74– 81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.025
- Lent, M. R., Veur, S. S. V., McCoy, T. A., Wojtanowski, A. C., Sandoval, B., Sherman, S., Komaroff, E., & Foster, G. D. (2014). A randomized, controlled study of a healthy corner store initiative on the purchases of urban, low-income youth. *Obesity*, 22(12), 2494– 2500. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20878
- Leung, C. W., Epel, E. S., Ritchie, L. D., Crawford, P. B., & Laraia, B. A. (2014). Food insecurity is inversely associated with diet quality of lower-income adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *114*(12), 1943-1953.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.06.353
- Ligthart, K. A. M., Buitendijk, L., Koes, B. W., & van Middelkoop, M. (2017). The association between ethnicity, socioeconomic status and compliance to pediatric weight-management interventions—A systematic review. *Obesity Research & Clinical Practice*, *11*(5 Suppl 1), 1–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2016.04.001
- Lin, B.-H., Ver Ploeg, M., Kasteridis, P., & Yen, S. T. (2014). The roles of food prices and food access in determining food purchases of low-income households. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 36(5), 938–952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2014.07.002
- Lorant, V., Deliège, D., Eaton, W., Robert, A., Philippot, P., & Ansseau, M. (2003).
 Socioeconomic inequalities in depression: A meta-analysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *157*(2), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwf182

- Loth, K. A., Fertig, A., Trofholz, A., Harnack, L., Crosby, R., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Berge, J. M. (2021). Concordance of children's intake of selected food groups as reported by parents via 24-h dietary recall and ecological momentary assessment. *Public Health Nutrition*, 24(1), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020001111
- Marlatt, G. A. (1985). Relapse prevention: Theoretical rationale and overview of the model. In *Relapse prevention* (pp. 3–70).
- McKee, H. C., Ntoumanis, N., & Taylor, I. M. (2014). An ecological momentary assessment of lapse occurrences in dieters. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 48(3), 300–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-014-9594-y
- Monterrosa, E. C., Frongillo, E. A., Drewnowski, A., de Pee, S., & Vandevijvere, S. (2020).
 Sociocultural influences on food choices and implications for sustainable healthy diets.
 Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 41(2_suppl), 59S-73S.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0379572120975874
- Morales, M. E., & Berkowitz, S. A. (2016). The relationship between food insecurity, dietary patterns, and obesity. *Current Nutrition Reports*, *5*(1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-016-0153-y
- Mou, Y., Jansen, P. W., Raat, H., Nguyen, A. N., & Voortman, T. (2021). Associations of family feeding and mealtime practices with children's overall diet quality: Results from a prospective population-based cohort. *Appetite*, *160*, 105083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.105083
- Nackers, L. M., Ross, K. M., & Perri, M. G. (2010). The association between rate of initial weight loss and long-term success in obesity treatment: Does slow and steady win the

race? *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *17*(3), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-010-9092-y

- Ogden, C. L. (2018). Prevalence of obesity among youths by household income and education level of head of household—United States 2011–2014. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 67. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6706a3
- Ong, J. X., Ullah, S., Magarey, A., Miller, J., & Leslie, E. (2017). Relationship between the home environment and fruit and vegetable consumption in children aged 6–12 years: A systematic review. *Public Health Nutrition*, 20(3), 464–480. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980016002883
- Pabayo, R., Kawachi, I., & Gilman, S. E. (2014). Income inequality among American states and the incidence of major depression. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 68(2), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2013-203093
- Paluch, R. A., Epstein, L. H., & Roemmich, J. N. (2007). Comparison of methods to evaluate changes in relative body mass index in pediatric weight control. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 19(4), 487–494. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.20608
- Patel, V., Burns, J. K., Dhingra, M., Tarver, L., Kohrt, B. A., & Lund, C. (2018). Income inequality and depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association and a scoping review of mechanisms. *World Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 76–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20492
- Puhl, R. M., & Lessard, L. M. (2020). Weight stigma in youth: Prevalence, consequences, and considerations for clinical practice. *Current Obesity Reports*, 9(4), 402–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-020-00408-8
- Quek, Y.-H., Tam, W. W. S., Zhang, M. W. B., & Ho, R. C. M. (2017). Exploring the association between childhood and adolescent obesity and depression: A meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 18(7), 742–754. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12535
- Raffensperger, S., Kuczmarski, M. F., Hotchkiss, L., Cotugna, N., Evans, M. K., & Zonderman,
 A. B. (2010). Effect of race and predictors of socioeconomic status on diet quality in the
 HANDLS Study sample. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *102*(10), 923–930.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30711-2
- Reilly, J. J., & Kelly, J. (2011). Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: Systematic review.
 International Journal of Obesity, 35(7), 891–898. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.222
- Rogers, R., Eagle, T. F., Sheetz, A., Woodward, A., Leibowitz, R., Song, M., Sylvester, R.,
 Corriveau, N., Kline-Rogers, E., Jiang, Q., Jackson, E. A., & Eagle, K. A. (2015). The
 relationship between childhood obesity, low socioeconomic status, and race/ethnicity:
 Lessons from Massachusetts. *Childhood Obesity*, *11*(6), 691–695.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2015.0029
- Rossen, L. M. (2014). Neighbourhood economic deprivation explains racial/ethnic disparities in overweight and obesity among children and adolescents in the USA. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 68(2), 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2012-202245
- Saelens, B. E., & McGrath, A. M. (2003). Self-monitoring adherence and adolescent weight control efficacy. *Children's Health Care*, 32(2), 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326888CHC3202_5

Sanford Health. (2023). *ReTAINE*. https://retaine.org/

- Santiago, C. D., Wadsworth, M. E., & Stump, J. (2011). Socioeconomic status, neighborhood disadvantage, and poverty-related stress: Prospective effects on psychological syndromes among diverse low-income families. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(2), 218–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.10.008
- Savage, J. S., Fisher, J. O., & Birch, L. L. (2007). Parental influence on eating behavior: Conception to adolescence. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 35(1), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-720X.2007.00111.x
- Schaefer, L. M., Smith, K. E., Anderson, L. M., Cao, L., Crosby, R. D., Engel, S. G., Crow, S. J.,
 Peterson, C. B., & Wonderlich, S. A. (2020). The role of affect in the maintenance of
 binge-eating disorder: Evidence from an ecological momentary assessment study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *129*(4), 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000517
- Shavers, V. L. (2007). Measurement of socioeconomic status in health disparities research. Journal of the National Medical Association, 99(9), 1013–1023.
- Shiffman, S. (1982). Relapse following smoking cessation: A situational analysis. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 50, 71–86. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.50.1.71
- Shiffman, S. (1984). Cognitive antecedents and sequelae of smoking relapse crises. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *14*, 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1984.tb02238.x
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., & Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 4, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415

- Shim, J.-S., Oh, K., & Kim, H. C. (2014). Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology and Health*, *36*, e2014009. https://doi.org/10.4178/epih/e2014009
- Silva Garcia, K., Power, T. G., Beck, A. D., Fisher, J. O., Goodell, L. S., Johnson, S. L.,
 O'Connor, T. M., & Hughes, S. O. (2018). Stability in the feeding practices and styles of low-income mothers: Questionnaire and observational analyses. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *15*(1), 28.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-018-0656-6
- Simmonds, M., Llewellyn, A., Owen, C. G., & Woolacott, N. (2016). Predicting adult obesity from childhood obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 17(2), 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12334
- Singh, A. S., Mulder, C., Twisk, J. W. R., van Mechelen, W., & Chinapaw, M. J. M. (2008). Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: A systematic review of the literature. *Obesity Reviews*, 9(5), 474–488. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00475.x
- Smeets, A. J., & Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S. (2008). Acute effects on metabolism and appetite profile of one meal difference in the lower range of meal frequency. *The British Journal* of Nutrition, 99(6), 1316–1321. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114507877646
- Steele, M. M., Steele, R. G., & Hunter, H. L. (2009). Family adherence as a predictor of child outcome in an intervention for pediatric obesity: Different outcomes for self-report and objective measures. *Children's Health Care*, 38(1), 64–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/02739610802615898
- Stierman, B., Afful, J., Carroll, M., Te-Ching, C., Orlando, D., Fink, S., & Fryar, C. (2021). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2017–March 2020 pre-pandemic data files. National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.). https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:106273

- Stinson, E. J., Votruba, S. B., Venti, C., Perez, M., Krakoff, J., & Gluck, M. E. (2018). Food insecurity is associated with maladaptive eating behaviors and objectively measured overeating. *Obesity*, 26(12), 1841–1848. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22305
- Stroebe, W., Papies, E. K., & Aarts, H. (2008). From homeostatic to hedonic theories of eating: Self-regulatory failure in food-rich environments. *Applied Psychology*, 57(Suppl 1), 172– 193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00360.x
- Stroebe, W., van Koningsbruggen, G. M., Papies, E. K., & Aarts, H. (2013). Why most dieters fail but some succeed: A goal conflict model of eating behavior. *Psychological Review*, *120*(1), 110–138. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030849
- Theim, K. R., Sinton, M. M., Goldschmidt, A. B., Van Buren, D. J., Doyle, A. C., Saelens, B. E., Stein, R. I., Epstein, L. H., & Wilfley, D. E. (2013). Adherence to behavioral targets and treatment attendance during a pediatric weight control trial. *Obesity*, 21(2), 394–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2012.94
- Thomas, J. G., Doshi, S., Crosby, R. D., & Lowe, M. R. (2011). Ecological momentary assessment of obesogenic eating behavior: Combining person-specific and environmental predictors. *Obesity*, *19*(8), 1574–1579. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2010.335
- Thomas, J. G., Goldstein, S. P., & Brick, L. A. (2022). Preliminary evidence of contextual factors' influence on weight loss treatment outcomes: Implications for future research. *International Journal of Obesity*, 46(6), 1244–1246. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-022-01070-x
- Thompson, E. R. (2007). Development and validation of an Internationally Reliable Short-Form of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 227–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022106297301

- Tronieri, J. S., Wadden, T. A., Chao, A. M., Pearl, R. L., Alamuddin, N., & Berkowitz, R. I. (2018). Early Weight Loss in Behavioral Treatment Predicts Later Rate of Weight Loss and Response to Pharmacotherapy. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine*, 53(3), 290–295. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kay036
- Valoski, A., & Epstein, L. H. (1990). Nutrient intake of obese children in a family-based behavioral weight control program. *International Journal of Obesity*, *14*(8), 667–677.
- Ventura, A. K., & Birch, L. L. (2008). Does parenting affect children's eating and weight status? International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 5(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-5-15
- Wang, Y., Beydoun, M. A., Li, J., Liu, Y., & Moreno, L. A. (2011). Do children and their parents eat a similar diet? Resemblance in child and parental dietary intake: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 65(2), 177– 189. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2009.095901
- Weinberger, A. H., Gbedemah, M., Martinez, A. M., Nash, D., Galea, S., & Goodwin, R. D. (2018). Trends in depression prevalence in the USA from 2005 to 2015: Widening disparities in vulnerable groups. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(8), 1308–1315. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002781
- Whitaker, R. C., Wright, J. A., Pepe, M. S., Seidel, K. D., & Dietz, W. H. (1997). Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(13), 869–873. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199709253371301
- Wilfley, D. E., Fowler, L. A., Hampl, S. E., Dreyer Gillette, M. L., Staiano, A. E., Graham, A. K., Grammer, A. C., Nelson, L., Carlson, J. A., Brown, D. S., Gabbert, S., Springstroh, K., Thomas, F., Ramel, M., Welch, R., & Johnson, W. (2021). Implementation of a

scalable family-based behavioral treatment for childhood obesity delivered through primary care clinics: Description of the Missouri Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Study Protocol. *Childhood Obesity*, *17*(Suppl 1), S-39-S-47. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2021.0175

- Wilfley, D. E., Saelens, B. E., Stein, R. I., Best, J. R., Kolko, R. P., Schechtman, K. B.,
 Wallendorf, M., Welch, R. R., Perri, M. G., & Epstein, L. H. (2017). Dose, content, and
 mediators of family-based treatment for childhood obesity: A multisite randomized
 clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *171*(12), 1151–1159.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.2960
- Wilfley, D. E., Stein, R. I., Saelens, B. E., Mockus, D. S., Matt, G. E., Hayden-Wade, H. A., Welch, R. R., Schechtman, K. B., Thompson, P. A., & Epstein, L. H. (2007). Efficacy of maintenance treatment approaches for childhood overweight: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 298(14), 1661–1673. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.298.14.1661
- Williams, D. R., Mohammed, S. A., Leavell, J., & Collins, C. (2010). Race, socioeconomic status, and health: Complexities, ongoing challenges, and research opportunities. *Annals* of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1186(1), 69–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05339.x
- Wood, A. C., Blissett, J. M., Brunstrom, J. M., Carnell, S., Faith, M. S., Fisher, J. O., Hayman,
 L. L., Khalsa, A. S., Hughes, S. O., Miller, A. L., Momin, S. R., Welsh, J. A., Woo, J. G.,
 Haycraft, E., & American Heart Association Council on Lifestyle and Cardiometabolic
 Health; Council on Epidemiology and Prevention; Council on Lifelong Congenital Heart
 Disease and Heart Health in the Young; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing;
 and Stroke Council. (2020). Caregiver influences on eating behaviors in young children:

A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 9(10), e014520. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.014520

- Wrotniak, B. H., Epstein, L. H., Paluch, R. A., & Roemmich, J. N. (2005). The relationship between parent and child self-reported adherence and weight loss. *Obesity Research*, *13*(6), 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2005.127
- Yee, A. Z. H., Lwin, M. O., & Ho, S. S. (2017). The influence of parental practices on child promotive and preventive food consumption behaviors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 47. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0501-3

Appendices

Appendix A. Recruitment Flyer

Eating Assessment and Texting (EAT) Study

Families needed for a research study!

Researchers want to learn about family eating habits in real time.

WHAT WILL VOLUNTEERS BE ASKED TO DO?

Volunteers will respond to 1-minute text messages about their family's eating, mood, and environment and will complete two virtual study visits. Participation will last three months.

WHO CAN JOIN?

Families in the RYSE Program who have a smartphone may join.

VOLUNTEERS WILL RECEIVE:

- 1.\$1 per text up to \$63 total
- 2.\$25 grocery store gift card
- 3. Chance to win \$100 raffle
- 4. Personalized feedback

Want to learn more?

Contact the EAT Study Team or Scan the QR Code*

816-839-9568eatstudy@email.wustl.edu

*Please call us if you do not want to be contacted





Appendix B. Overview of Study Protocol



Appendix C. Visit 1: Comprehension Check for EMA Surveys

- Inform participant we will practice right now
- In admin ReTAINE portal, click on the participant's ID in the "Participants" panel, then click on the second tab titled "Signal Schedules."
 - Click "add signal schedule" and select Interval Contingent
 - Set the assessment to send only once, at the next minute, start and end dates are today
 - Make sure participant knows how to access assessment
 - Let them know that "You do not have to put honest answers right now since this is just practice"
- Have them enter the assessment, then ask:
 - Can you read the first question?
 - Does it make sense to you? Do you have any questions?
 - Do the answers make sense to you?
 - Can you answer the question (however you want), and move on?
 - Can you read the next question, etc. --> repeat
 - When you get to the question that asks whether you've eaten anything in the past two hours, please say yes
- You've been learning a lot about healthy eating habits and how foods are categorized as green, yellow, and red. Do you remember what red foods are?
 - Red foods are foods that are higher in calories but lower in nutrients. Red foods can fit into your daily eating plan but try to eat them less than you would eat green foods or yellow foods that are higher in nutrients and lower in calories.
 - Give an example of a red food: pizza.
 - Give an example of eating more red foods than planned: If you planned to eat one slice of pizza but you actually ate two, that's an example of eating more red foods than planned.
- Let's practice by thinking about the last meal or snack you ate today.
 - What did you eat during that meal or snack?
 - Based on the Traffic Light Eating Plan, it sounds like XX foods were red food/s.
 - How much of that red food did you plan to eat?
 - How much of that red food did you actually eat?
 - If ate more red foods: Okay, so it sounds like based on what you described, that you ate more of that red food than you planned. Does that sound right? That would be an example of a time when you ate more red foods than planned, so you would say "yes" for this question.
 - Okay, so it sounds like based on what you described, that you did not eat more of the red food than you had planned. Does that sound right? That would be an example of a time when you did not eat more red foods than planned, so you would say "no" for this question.
- Repeat the same protocol for the child.

Child Characteristics	Percent or Mean (SD) $(N = 19)$
Gender Identity	
Female	57.9%
Male	42.1%
Race	
Black or African American	26.3%
White	68.4%
Multi-Race	5.3%
Ethnicity	
Hispanic	15.8%
Non-Hispanic	84.2%
Age	9.11 (2.08) (range 5 - 12)

Appendix D. Participating Child Demographics

Parent Characteristics	Percent or Mean (SD) (<i>N</i> = 19)
Gender Identity	
Female	89.5%
Male	10.5%
Race	
Black or African American	31.6%
White	68.4%
Multi-Race	0%
Ethnicity	
Hispanic	15.8%
Non-Hispanic	84.2%
Age	35.4 (5.22) (range 26 - 49)
Combined Household Income	
\$999 or Less	21.1%
\$1000 - \$2500	21.1%
\$2501 - 3800	31.6%
\$3801 - 5000	15.8%
\$5000 or More	10.5%
Household Food Insecurity Status	
High Food Security	68.4%
Low Food Security	15.8%
Very Low Food Security	15.8%
Highest Level of Education (Mother, Father)	
Less than High School Education	0%, 15.8%
Some High School	0, 15.8%
High School Diploma/GED	57.9%, 36.8%
Associates Degree or 1 -3 Years of College	26.3%, 26.3%
Bachelors Degree	5.3%, 0%
Graduate/Professional Degree	10.5%, 0%
Unknown	0%, 5.3%

Appendix E. Participating Parent Demographics